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Ch21: Designations – Stage 3 Commenced 17.12.15 

DAY 1 – 17 DECEMBER 2015 

 

  [9.50 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you everyone.  Good morning everyone, it 5 

is a delay caused by a couple of matters.  The sound system person may 

still be needing to work on things as we commence this hearing.  We 

will record some appearances.  We have got Mr Prebble for the 

Ministry of Education? 

 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lanning for the Council. 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, good morning, sir 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Ms Marks for various residents? 

 

MS MARKS:   Yes, for a group of submitters, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Now, Mr Prebble, I was going to throw 

at you that line but I might as well as do it anyway, about whether the 

dog ate your homework, bearing in mind we had not got your legal 

submissions in, but appreciating the fact that you have provided what I 

asked for by way of a marked up copy of a condition set. 25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which indicates the different positions of the parties, the 

Panel is most grateful for you having done that. 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I should also say that you should also be grateful to 

Mr Lanning, because he was very useful in providing for that as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, good, okay.  And we have had a chance to read your 35 

submissions and I think you should take us through those because they 

came in a bit late notwithstanding the condition set suggests that the 

matters regarding conditions, while important and significant for the 

parties, are actually relatively confined.  Am I right to understand that, 

just before we begin, effectively one set of issues concerns the 40 

consultation condition or otherwise? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Another set of issues concerns whether certain properties 45 

are added to conditions or not, is that right? 
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MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And a third one and particularly regard to the submitters, 

resident submitters, is the question of a noise condition or not? 5 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And its terms if so? 

 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, I think that is a fair summary but in terms of the last two 

matters I would suggest that they really combine into one. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, and that comes back to the principles that 

your submissions cover off? 15 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, there are some matters that, while I wouldn’t 

normally do this given that we have got a relatively compact hearing I 20 

think I should do it in regard to your submissions, is to discuss aspects 

with you as you go. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sure. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if you could take us to the introduction. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And my questions will come relatively quickly. 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, okay.  I mean first of all I apologise for the delay in 

providing the submissions to you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, that is understood, you don’t need to be 35 

concerned about that, I understand the circumstances. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you. 

 

 So if I take you through the submissions in terms of the introduction, 40 

the Minister, and it should be “she” not “he”, has approved the lodging 

of notices of requirement for the schools at issue and there is no issue 

that all of the schools at issue subject to control under the Private 

Schools Conditional Integration Act of 1975 sit, so that is all fine. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
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MR PREBBLE:   The NORs, if I can go straight into a short form of dealing 

with things, have been merged with the replacement plan process and 

that is under the first schedule of the Order.  And that requires that 

within the plan process a decision is made on the NORs based on 5 

considerations set out in section 171 of the Act. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is where I will possibly pause.  So you have got 

a summary there of what you say are the provisions in the Act and then 

in paragraph 3 you refer to the powers of the Panel.  Starting with 10 

powers of the Panel, it is my understanding that clause 14 of the Order 

in Council specifies that we have a power of decision not a power of 

recommendation? 

 

  [9.55 am] 15 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, that is correct, I have not fully recorded that so I accept 

that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, you actually say it is a “recommendation”? 20 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, so I accept that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is a reasonably fundamental point because in the sense 

that if the burden is on the shoulders of the Panel - - - 25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - to go through the matters that it is required to go 

through, in terms of making a valid decision under the Order? 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Including the matters under 171. 

 35 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, so - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is a two-step process, isn’t it, it is a draft decision 

which is issued and then a final decision? 

 40 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Now, coming back to the matters in 2; you have 

provided a summary there, did you want to elaborate on that? 

 45 

MR PREBBLE:   2.2, or? 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   In paragraph 2 you have got paragraphs 2.1 to 2.4, and I 

just asked whether or not you wanted to elaborate in any way on what 

you say there? 

 5 

MR PREBBLE:   Under 2.4? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   2.1 to 2.4. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Well, no. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, then I will stop you again.  Under section 171, 

bearing in mind the focus of what we are dealing with here is very 

much around effects, is it not? 

 15 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you do not – so what begins subsection 1 of 

section 171 which is “When considering a requirement and any 

submissions received”. 20 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we have to consider the submissions. 

 25 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The Panel, if you like, rather than a territorial authority 

“must subject to part 2 consider the effects on the environment of 

allowing the requirement having particular regard to these matters”. 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you do not refer to that first bit and that seems to be 

something that comes out in the evidence by way of rebuttal as well, 35 

doesn’t it, about that being relevant, have you got any comment on 

that? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Well, yes, I do and if you can just give me just a pause for 

thought to respond.   40 

 

 Looking at my written submissions I do not address that within my 

written submissions, but I would submit that the Minister has addressed 

and dealt with that issue. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But what I am referring to, Mr Prebble, is our 

responsibility as a Panel. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Obviously considering the evidence including on behalf 

of the Minister and the submissions and the evidence for the Council, 

but within a framework which is mandatory and which is expressed to 

be subject to part 2 and a compulsory obligation to consider effects.  So 

as long as we are on the same page I guess on that, in terms of this 10 

being the framework within which we now need to assess the evidence, 

not to express a view on the merits - - - 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sure. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - of particular conditions but to make sure we are 

considering things within the right framework from the beginning of 

the hearing. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, I understand that and I would submit that the framework 20 

in terms of the consideration at the NOR level has been addressed but 

ultimately, even if you are not satisfied of that, it still enables you to 

progress in terms of your determination. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Go to the next.  So I think we have 25 

discussed paragraphs 2 and 3, are there any other matters you wanted to 

highlight?  I think the reasonable necessity of the designation isn’t 

really a contested matter, I think that can be taken as read, no one is 

really contesting that. 

 30 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And within that there is no contest before us, as I 

understand it, as there might have been at the pre-hearing stage about 

whether integrated schools under the umbrella of requiring authority 35 

powers of the Minister, so it is good that that issue is also put to bed as 

a relatively clear cut legal issue. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, I would like to think so, sir. 

 40 

  [10.00 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, are you saying that there might be some 

submissions from parties on that? 

 45 

MR PREBBLE:   No, I am not. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, okay. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I am saying that I would like to think that that is the end of it. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, yes.  Well, I mean certainly from the Panel’s point 

of view, it seems to be self-evident that the Education Act provides an 

umbrella through which financial responsibility adheres in regard to the 

Minister’s role as a requiring authority. 

 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is as I understand is the explanation given in the 

evidence which seems to line up with the statutory regime. 

 15 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct, so it then comes down to the issues that you have 

identified but that I will come back to in my submissions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, so if we could take issue 1 as being, 

is there anything in issue 1 you wanted to bring out though? 20 

 

MR PREBBLE:   No, sir, not unless as a Panel you have an issue about that, 

but in my submission that is almost beyond challenge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Just related, well, perhaps you could go to 25 

paragraph 12.   

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Again I wonder whether this issue is effectively 30 

superseded by the fact that we now, as I mentioned before and tested 

with you, have got a relatively confined set of points of debate on 

certain conditions.   

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that a fair comment? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I think so.  I think it comes down to once you accept issue 1 I 

would submit that issue 2 effectively should become beyond challenge 40 

although no doubt my friend Mr Lanning may challenge that.  But my 

submission is that once you accept that the State Integrated Schools in 

Christchurch should be designated and on the same basis as the state 

school. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, hang on a minute, I am not sure that is what I said. 
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MR PREBBLE:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So once we accept that the requiring authority powers are 

available for State Integrated Schools. 5 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In other words that legal issue has gone away. 

 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Then as I understand it the focus is on these notices of 

requirement and how we should address them under section 171, is that 

a fair comment, we have to do that, that is our statutory obligation? 15 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Even handed or otherwise. 

 20 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct.  And even handed - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, even handed or otherwise. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Isn’t that fairly the point?  In other words, say for instance 

parties made arrangements that were signed off by memorandum that 

other designations not before us should be not given any restrictive 

conditions and should simply say “education purposes”? 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is nothing that I am aware of that by that process 

relieves us of our obligation under 171 of the RMA, is there, to assess 35 

each of notice of requirement according to those directions? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 40 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if the consequence is not even handed that is just a 

consequence of the Act and what parties come to arrangements on, is it 45 

not? 
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MR PREBBLE:   Yes, but it is a matter of the State Integrated Schools being 

satisfied that the NORs that they have applied for have been dealt with 

on an even handed basis. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, when you say “even handed’ do you mean everyone 

has been dealt with according to the requirements of the Resource 

Management Act as directed by the Order in Council? 

 

  [10.05 am] 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, I - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sorry, Mr Prebble, you are going to have be very 

clear about the submission otherwise we are just dancing on the head of 

a pin and I do not know what your submission is.  If what you are 15 

saying is we can move on from the even handed point about getting the 

designations all in the same way and deal with the designations 

according to the matters that we must consider under 171, then 

presumably we can move the consultation issue.  But if there is a 

substantive submission you are making around even handedness that 20 

goes beyond what I said please be clear about it. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Can I just - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, you have read the evidence? 25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, of course I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the evidence is before us, including Mr Nixon’s 

evidence on even handedness. 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which presumably we may or may not need to test based 

on what I am asking you about. 35 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes.  But can you please give me a minute or so to consult? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly. 

 40 

MR PREBBLE:   Well, at the end of the day, sir, we are going to be in your 

hands as to what you consider an appropriate resolution to be, but what 

- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not sure what that means though? 45 
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MR PREBBLE:   Yes, I was going to say what we maintain is that, in that 

respect, there should be less control on the State Integrated Schools 

than are sought by the Council. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, now, I perfectly understand that submission and 5 

perhaps we can move on from that.  I mean clearly our inquiry in 

regard to 171 matters is in the context of the evidence before us and the 

evidence whether or not it stacks up on propositions in regard to 

whether certain conditions should be imposed or not, that is all before 

us including whether or not something is meritorious, whether it is 10 

justified, whether it is disproportionate, whether it has any relevance 

given the designation mechanism and outline plan processes.  All of 

those matters are matters in the mix. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  All I wanted to be clear about is that there is no 

super-arching obligation on the Panel to make sure that the 

designations all line up in the same sort of way that would somehow 

take away from our obligations under 171, and I take from our 20 

conversation that you are not submitting that? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   No.  No, not all and in fact I would submit the opposite, we 

are looking to promote that to the extent that the State Integrated 

Schools are designated, that they simply be on a par with or somewhere 25 

similar to the state schools, but certainly no better. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it comes back to the evidence on that, doesn’t it? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Of course it does. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So if you want to move to the consultation 

point unless there is anything further you wanted to explain on that, we 

have got that pretty clear. 

 35 

MR PREBBLE:   So if I go to page 4, issue 2. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay, so I have just simply recorded that the law regarding 40 

consultation under the Act has never been straightforward and I just 

point out that, you know, part 8 is now up to section 157ZA so it is just 

constantly subject to amendment and has been dynamic in that respect 

so whilst significant cases such as Bailey emphasise the case of public 

participation in the Act that is related to the notification and submission 45 

processes under part 6.   
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  [10.10 am] 

 

I am just wondering to what extent this is a matter of concern to you, because if 

it is not - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is a live issue before us in that, I mean subject to 

any submissions you made to say that it has to be a dead issue because 

there is no legal capacity to impose such a condition, you know, it has 

to be a live issue because it is contested by the parties. 10 

 

MR PREBBLE:   As I say, I just thought I would test that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we have to hear every party’s case on its merits.  

One issue, can I ask this question I suppose, and perhaps it is a little bit 15 

early to do that, but is the Minister – particularly I can understand a 

public sector agency subject to the supervision of the courts in regard to 

how to conduct their affairs and so forth to be nervous about 

obligations which might give rise to litigation around whether or not 

for instance a duty to consult was breached. 20 

 

 If the sting could be taken out of that issue, are there residual concerns 

the Minister has around some sort of communication type mechanism?  

One that does not oppose such an obligation? And this is just to test the 

different options; it is not to say that we do not form a view about that. 25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Other parties may have a view about that too but if there 

was an obligation that for instance just expressed a non-mandatory loop 30 

of communication being reported to the Council, ie we have or we have 

not communicated the residents and if we have this is what we 

understood they saw in regards, say, this project of this scale and 

dimension, say it was a big one. 

 35 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And so the Outline Plan might come through that the 

Council with a statement saying, “We have not consulted with the 

residents”, in which case the Council knows that maybe they should 40 

before they test the issues of the Outline Plan. 

 

MR PREBBLE:  Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Or, “We have and we have got this feedback and we 45 

modified our design this way to accommodate Mrs Smith who had a 
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problem with getting noise across her boundary from the air 

conditioning system”, or some other thing? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes.  Well it is a very good question and it is where I am 

going in my written submissions.  The answer in terms of the 5 

Minister’s position is that consistent with the general approach in the 

RMA.  There should be limitations on consultation under the RMA and 

part of that reason is that they can raise false expectations as to what 

that means and how that impacts on those that have otherwise gone 

through a process of that kind.   10 

 

 For example, if you look at the part 6 resource consent process which 

in turn leads to schedule 42 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The assessment of effects process?  15 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, schedule 4. 

 20 

MR PREBBLE:  Schedule 4, the requirements under schedule 4 for 

consultation are, you know, have you engaged in consultation so there 

is not an immediate requirement under the RMA to consult. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if a condition was framed for instance in terms that 25 

were akin to that, it made it explicit there was no obligation to do so.  

Are there residual concerns the Minister has with that?  If it was not, 

for instance, did not even refer to consultation, used some other words, 

it made it clear it was non-management? 

 30 

MR PREBBLE:   I am not going to say no, because - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will not hold you to that either, it is not fair to do that but 

I will just put it out there as another option that we might test - - - 

 35 

  [10.15 am] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, the reality is this may be something that can be 

considered.  I just do not know, I would need to seek instructions but 

the point being that even, you know, for a resource consent for a 40 

definite activity that breaches a plan, there is no obligation for 

consultation so from the Minister’s perspective the issue becomes why 

should there suddenly become an obligation to consult for designations 

in circumstances where when you go back and assess the statutory 

structure the purpose of designations is to remove you from the 45 

resource consent process. 
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 So if there is no obligation within the resource consent process to 

consult, why should there be an obligation under the designation 

process? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Now I am just mindful of time, Mr Prebble.  We 

probably need to push on.  So let’s just wrap up in a few minutes on 

issue 3 and we will - - - 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sure, so I will go straight to three, but I hope that that assists. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it does. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   So under three, it just comes down to specific conditions and 

this is where the evidence of Mr Nixon will kick in but under that I just 15 

say that the parties attended mediation on 12 November 2015, we have 

presented a memorandum that sets out where things have got to.  The 

outcome of this is able to be disclosed and has been usefully 

summarised by Ms Dixon in her evidence-in-chief and it has since 

been, as I say, further refined in the memorandum provided this 20 

morning. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   So if I move to paragraph 23, the primary theme of the case 25 

for the Minister is that the purpose of designations is to enable works to 

proceed with minimal procedural delay and cost and in my submission 

that is entirely consistent with the order.  Some of the schools had 

issues such as the former Our Lady of Fatima school on Innes Road, 

having occurred significant process costs in terms of dealing with 30 

earthquake issues and so on.  This is ultimately a cost incurred by the 

community and is unnecessary in my submission if the school can be 

treated in the same way as a state school. 

 

 And then in terms of finished conditions, if I can take you to 35 

paragraph 25.  In terms of specific conditions for the school, the agreed 

conditions were circulated in a memorandum by the Council dated 

16 December 2015 – that may actually be this morning.  This reflects 

the mediated agreement of 12 November. 

 40 

 And then if I can take you to 26.1 in terms of the matters agreed to or 

matters at issue, from the perspective of the Council as territorial 

authority, we would say that we disagree with the Council’s proposed 

consultation conditions and I have set that out in 26.1. 

 45 
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 26.2, the Council have sought recession plane conditions for four 

additional properties, 26.3 the Council have sought recession plane 

conditions either set in additional properties; and 26.4 the Council have 

sought recession plane conditions over three additional properties 

adjacent.  5 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

 And going back, I should say on behalf of the Minister as requiring 

authority, not the Council as to that. 10 

 

 So I then move to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, you do not mention the residents/submitters position 

on noise condition there? 15 

 

MR PREBBLE:   No, because I think to a large extent that has been resolved. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not so sure Ms Marks agrees with that.   

 20 

MS MARKS:   No. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But what you are saying is that it is not an issue with the 25 

Council, but of course the Panel is independent. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   No, it is not an issue with the Council. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well it is an issue for us, though? 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, correct.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the Minister’s position? 

 35 

MR PREBBLE:   The Minister’s position is that it is a matter for you to 

determine, but it’s not in a situation where it is going to argue for noise 

issues either way.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, I am not sure if I understand that.  Are you saying 40 

that you would abide the Panel’s decision on what the residents are 

asking for or – do you want to confer with Mr Nixon on that before we 

go any further? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes.   45 
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DISCUSSION 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Well I think the position is that the Minister, as a starting 

point, opposed in the sense that there needs to be a justification for the 

noise issue, but otherwise it accepts that the important point is that 5 

ultimately the schools are currently designated and are addressed on 

that basis. 

 

 So the starting point is that it is opposed, but with that said it does not 

have evidence to oppose that.   10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we do not have any evidence as far as I understand it 

on the noise condition, we have just got propositions being put, subject 

to part 2 in our obligation to consider effects.   

 15 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Bearing in mind section 16, but also bearing in mind the 

fact that quite clearly section 171 empowers and directs us to consider 

conditions. 20 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Anyway, perhaps that will become clearer as we go 

through.   25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, anything else? 

 30 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, you will just need to remind me, sir, as to where I got 

up to.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think you got as far as 26, and you were going through 

the fact that those recession planes and so forth have been added to 35 

certain properties, and the Minister’s position is to oppose that. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, I am not sure whether it was 26.3 or 26.4. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well finish off anything you have got.  So we have read 40 

these submissions.   

 

MR PREBBLE:   I will let those be taken as read.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   My opening comment to you was that there are properties 45 

added to the list and that was the point of difference.  Very clear, 
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excellent joint memorandum with the colour coding.  So we are fully 

aware of that being the point of difference, which we will hear 

evidence on. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I will just check with Panel members, we have taken a 

bit of time, but it has been useful.  Ms Dawson? 

 

  [10.25 am] 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just ask Mr Prebble, in this latest version for one, two, 

three; Emmanuel Christian School, there is yellow highlighter on the 

red colour, which I think it says is an addition, a text added by the 

Council but it does not say whether that is accepted by the Ministry of 15 

Education or not.  I am just guessing because it’s red underneath the 

yellow, that it might be? 

 

MR NIXON:   Excuse me, am I able to answer that question? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, just to clarify, is it accepted or not? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes it is.  Ms Dixon and I discussed that yesterday or the day 

before and I think what has happened there is she has put in what is 

effectively the full wording of the rule, as I understand.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Nixon, just pause.  A couple of issues, if you are not 

by a microphone it may not be picking up in the transcript.  But all we 

need to know at this stage, and if Mr Prebble could confirm this please, 

that this is accepted by the Ministry. 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, the answer is yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And we will hear the evidence on that shortly.  

 35 

MS DAWSON:   The other question is, did I hear you correctly that the 

Minister is opposed to it, to a noise condition being imposed on any – 

as suggested? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think we will just go by the transcript on that. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because I found it hard to hear.  All right, well we will 

check in the transcript.  

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But my understanding, the comment before was - - - 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Well the answer is yes.  

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you, sorry.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what you said before the in transcript, presumably we 

can rely on as well? 

 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.   15 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I apologise if I did not make it clear earlier, but the answer is 

yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you.  That is all, thank you. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, I have no questions at this point. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now your first witness is Mr Nixon, coming through first.  

Cross-examination from Council.  

 

MR PREBBLE:   Well in terms of order, what I would suggest is, as regarding 

the order - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is fine, we will do it out of order.  It is just that 

your submissions came in this morning and the timetable was worked 

out. 

 35 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, and I apologise. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could call your first witness, Mr Nolan, please. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, so it is Mr Nolan who is the school representative for all 40 

of the relevant schools. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, if you could call Mr Nolan, thank you. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, okay. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, I do not understand that there are any questions 

from any parties, but we will have your evidence sworn.  

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, so Mike if you can just go have that.   

 5 
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<MIKE NOLAN, sworn [10.27 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [10.28 am] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Now can you please confirm that your name is Michael 

Nolan? 

 5 

MR NOLAN:   Correct. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that you have provided written evidence in respect of 

this proceeding? 

 10 

MR NOLAN:   Correct. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that you confirm that the evidence that you have 

provided is true and correct? 

 15 

MR NOLAN:   With one proviso on page 3, number 8, there is a typo where it 

says “independent” it should say “state integrated”.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, and it is the third line? 

 20 

MR NOLAN:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Stand it corrected.   

 

MR NOLAN:   Thank you.  25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And can you please remain for any questions.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Daysh? 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I just have one question for you Mr Nolan, at your 

paragraph 11 you highlighted the problems for state integrated school 

where you do not have access to a designation, which just paraphrasing 

it, means that in some circumstances you might need to lodge a 

resource consent, and if notified and that is costly.  Already a question 35 

effectively, do you understand there is also a special purposes 

education zone underlying the designations? 

 

MR NOLAN:   Correct, yes. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   Do you also understand that that is being specifically designed 

and put in place to deal with issues, effects, standards to do with how 

schools interface with their communities? 

 

MR NOLAN:   Yes.  45 
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  [10.30 am] 

 

MR DAYSH:   And that there is recognition that there needs to be some 

controls around edges and boundaries, those sorts of things? 

 5 

MR NOLAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So is your evidence really that you think that you need to have 

extra powers that go beyond those normal standards in the zone in 

some circumstances? 10 

 

MR NOLAN:   We would simply be seeking exactly the same as a state school 

would in a similar circumstance, and the time and cost in terms of 

going through the process is the key thing for state integrated schools.  

We are not objecting to due process, it is just which process, and it is 15 

the time and cost, and I give the example in there, the recent St Francis 

of Assisi which it is now called, it was Our Lady of Fatima, now it was 

effectively a $30,000 process which is, you know a lot of money, 

effectively out of the pockets of – or out of the – it does not go into 

children. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   So what was the issue there, Mr Nolan? 

 

MR NOLAN:   The issues in the end all agreed we put in a – just the process 

going through it, it ended up with an acoustic fence being part of the 25 

process which we have accepted as condition going forward, if the 

schools were to be designated.  A little recession plane issue, and it was 

just the time and cost of going through that process using obviously 

professionals to work on our behalf with Council – and a very 

collaborative approach with Council, but it is just a time and cost to the 30 

approach. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But was that dealing with a real issue, a real effect? 

 

MR NOLAN:   Yes, the acoustic fence being the example, that we accept going 35 

forward, that was an issue. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill? 40 

 

MR NEILL:   Mr Nolan, can I just better understand the use of your facilities 

other than for school purposes, to what degree – I mean, how many 

catholic schools are there in Christchurch? 

 45 
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MR NOLAN:   There are – owned by the – 20 plus, not all owned by the 

Bishop, three of them owned by August. 

 

MR NEILL:   Right.  To what degree are those facilities utilised by the 

community or catholic organisations afterschool activities? 5 

 

MR NOLAN:   They would be exactly the same as a state school, they are able 

to hire those out, but I presume one might be referring to the parish 

church community, they would mostly use the parish church and they 

have mostly a parish centre themselves, so that is if they would not use 10 

the school facilities particularly in that way. 

 

 But other than, you know, may be hiring it out to an afterschool care 

service, the same as any other school would be, no more or less I 

believe than any other state school. 15 

 

MR NEILL:   And what about evening matters particularly gymnasiums, and I 

am talking about traffic and parking and all of that that goes with it 

because often your sites are smaller than that of state schools. 

 20 

MR NOLAN:   Yes.  Again, the gymnasiums would be used as per state 

schools in terms of Friday night basketball.  I would not think that there 

would be any greater use, there are probably – one looks at St Bede’s 

and the community hockey facility there, that would be an exception, 

but again that is a community facility, not particularly a school facility.  25 

But the primary schools would be exactly the same as per state primary 

schools. 

 

 And the secondaries are mostly school sport with – a big exception 

would be, say the St Bede’s hockey facility, which is a community 30 

facility and funded jointly. 

 

MR NEILL:   And as the manager of the catholic education office, how many 

complaints have you had with respect to parking issues, number one 

noise issues, number two, particularly in the afterschool activities 35 

rather than school activities. 

 

MR NOLAN:   Yes, I can say, sir, I have not had one in 10 years. 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Nolan, just following on from your answer to 

Mr Neill, I see that you have been given – you are authorised to present 45 

your evidence on behalf of the other state integrated schools, not just 
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the catholic schools, so a question from Mr Neill was related to a wider 

range of schools, are you able to answer that question beyond, in other 

words, the two questions were, to what extent are the facilities used out 

of hours, evenings, weekends by the community and are you aware of 

any issues or effects resulting from that.  Are you in a position to 5 

answer that for those other schools? 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR NOLAN:   I am not unfortunately, I do not have that level of detail I am 10 

sorry. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  So my second question is on 

a different topic.  So in paragraph 9 you set out the role increase 

application process – which was helpful thank you very much. 15 

 

 I suppose what I am interested in, is at the end of the day the Minister 

having looked at these matters, how tightly do you find or do any of the 

integrated schools, and I am not just talking about the catholic schools 

now, find that where the school is popular, it is at 90 percent of its 20 

maximum roll, there is obviously demand, maybe a waiting list, to what 

extent does the Minister exercise a control and say, “No, we are not 

going to allow you to expand”, or is the reasonable flexibility for 

schools that are popular to expand? 

 25 

MR NOLAN:   The key determinant that the Minister has is, is the effect on the 

wider network because it is seen as a whole, and I give example of St 

Bernadette’s Hornby where Bishop sought an increase in roll because 

of pressure for the catholic community within Hornby, and indeed 

Darfield where we do not have a school, but they are one parish. 30 

 

 I think it was five times to three Ministers over the period, the answer 

was “no”, and the key determinant there was the effect that it may have 

had on Hornby Primary School. 

 35 

 So the Minister – whoever that Minister might be at a particular time – 

makes their mind up and it is part of, “How does it affect the wider 

network, not just one school”, and we accept their decision. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that is where you have said I think in 9.3(d), “What is the 40 

flow on effect and neighbouring state integrated schools” - - -  

 

MR NOLAN:   Correct, that is a key - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   And so one school not draining a school that is not at 45 

capacity, or could be used more efficiently? 
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MR NOLAN:   That is correct, and the Ministers stance very recently is, she 

requires the local schools to actually sit down before such things come 

before her and try and come to consensus around how that works, so 

again it is a – when it comes to, in this case Minister Parata, she has a 5 

wider view where people have actually sat in a room, not just done it 

by letter. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, thank you, thank you for that that is all. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Nolan, Mr Daysh has a follow up question. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Just that reminded me, Ms Dawson's question, have you had 

the opportunity to read Ms Dixon's evidence on behalf of the City 

Council? 15 

 

MR NOLAN:   Briefly, I have not read it in detail. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  So between paragraphs 5.5 and 5.21 of her evidence she 

outlines the sort of growth projections, for example the first one, 20 

application Aidanfield Christian School, application for an increase in 

the roll from possibly 275 to 550, so doubling the roll over seven to 

eight years. 

 

 So the question really is, I think those come from actually the 25 

designation information; so in general terms many of schools are 

looking at a significant growth once a living growth path where the 

opportunity is there? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Nolan you can put that in terms of your own 30 

understanding from your own roll - - -  

 

MR NOLAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - you do not have to go further than that. 35 

 

MR NOLAN:   And I am on the integrated executive nationally so I do have 

some wider perspective but not in the particular previous question, 

which is very specific. 

 40 

 I can say because I am involved and the Minister has asked that the 

schools in the southwest get together, have done for the last 18 months 

and Aidanfield Christian School is within that, that they come to her 

with a growth agreement for the southwest schools, and I understand – 

this is actually on hold – because those talks certainly have not 45 

finished, I have one school in that group, Lady of Assumption School 
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and we have alerted the group that we would look for a roll increase 

because that is one of the grey areas of growth within Christchurch and 

we have to manage it in some way.  But we have not put that 

application in because those negotiations have not been finished. 

 5 

  [10.40 am] 

 

 So there is growth in that area and the Minister is well aware of that 

growth and it is something that she wishes to manage in a coherent 

way, and I do not think that she will make any decisions until those 10 

discussions are over.  Not easy discussions to have though, because 

everyone has different views within the group. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Nolan, I have just got a fairly basic question to follow 

up, thank you.  So in your paragraph 4 you refer to the concept of the 15 

integration agreement between the Crown and the proprietor, and over 

on paragraph 14 you describe the cost issues associated with what is 

now called the St Francis of Assisi Catholic School? 

 

MR NOLAN:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now I would take it that that particular project was one of 

those projects that would have been funded through the integration 

agreement system, rather than privately funded by the Board of 

Trustees? 25 

 

MR NOLAN:   Correct, sir, that one is the combining of the red zoned St Pauls 

which could never go back to where they were, and what was Our Lady 

of Fatima.  It was funded in round numbers $3,500 from the Crown and 

$4,000 from insurance, monies because the schools are obviously 30 

obligated under the Integration Act to have the schools insured for such 

events. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and as I understand it but if you could confirm this is 

right or not, that if we take a typical integrated school, in your case say 35 

the Catholic schools, there will be building projects that will be funded 

through the integration agreement, but there might also be as the 

proprietor say the Board of Trustees decides to undertake a funding 

programme, say they want a new all-weather sports surface or some 

other thing for their kids, and so they fund it and they may end up 40 

building that without recourse to that funding through the Ministry of 

Education, that is right, is it not? 

 

MR NOLAN:   It is slightly, well it is complex.  If it were to be a capital work 

then the Board of Trustees actually cannot undertake that but the Board 45 

could raise funds, and you have to say on behalf of the proprietor, and 
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you have to tell people what the project is for.  So effectively they 

would be raising money on behalf of the proprietor.  That money 

within a reasonable timeframe would go to the proprietor and the 

proprietor would carry out the works. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR NOLAN:   So one is able to fundraise, as obviously state schools do too. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just the other question I had in mind was firstly are you 10 

aware whether for instance the Catholic Education Office, whether 

there is any protocol or process that Boards of Trustees are encouraged 

to follow, in terms of engagement with their neighbours on projects? 

 

MR NOLAN:   On a project, yes, we would – when I say “we”, on behalf of 15 

the Bishop my office would undertake those projects and we use Opus 

International as our preferred professionals to do that and as part of that 

process obviously talking with neighbours is crucial and I give example 

that the St Francis of Assisi where we had to take fences down from 

neighbours, I think in the realm of 15 to 20 neighbours along the 20 

driveway and that was about four months.  We put up a new fence at 

the end, it was just the nature of the project.   

 

 Now the community engagement was sound and solid and everyone 

was on the same page so yes, that would be a normal part of the way 25 

we would operate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But clearly there is a concern about how best to achieve 

sound outcomes given the cost experience that you refer to at 

paragraph 14? 30 

 

MR NOLAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Any questions arising, Mr Prebble? 

 35 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [10.44 am] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes.  The only question that I have, sir, is if I can just go 

back to Ms  Dawson’s question to you where she asked you whether 40 

you had direct knowledge of effects arising from the lack of 

designation of the Catholic Diocese schools compared to the other 

Christian schools, and your answer was “no”.   

 

  [10.45 am] 45 
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 So my question is, are you able to further comment on this in terms of 

reasons why there should be any difference from the Diocese’ 

experience that you have, versus - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Prebble, be careful please not to lead. 5 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, well I am trying to be careful. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just – okay. 

 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Versus what the experience for the other Christian schools 

may be?  Are you happy with that question, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I probably interrupted at the wrong time.  Did 

you understand the question? 15 

 

MR NOLAN:   I would not mind after that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, you will have to repeat it, Mr Prebble. 

 20 

MR NOLAN:   Just - - -  

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, well the issue was, Ms Dawson asked you whether you 

had knowledge of effects arising from the lack of the designation of the 

other Christian schools and your answer was no.  So my question is, are 25 

you able to further comment on this in terms of any reasons why there 

should be any difference between the Diocese’s experience that you 

have, versus what may otherwise be experienced by the other Christian 

schools? 

 30 

MR NOLAN:   Got it.  My response to Ms Dawson was in relation to specifics 

but I am on the Executive of the Association of Proprietors of 

Integrated Schools New Zealand wide and my experience would be 

similar with other proprietors, but I did not have a specific example.  

But in general terms the discussions are very similar.  But I am not 35 

involved in the specifics of any particular proprietor. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you, no other questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks, Mr Prebble.  Thanks very much, 40 

Mr Nolan, you are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.47 am] 

 

 I have to say I agree with your order, Mr Prebble.  It is a better order.  45 

It is always good to get the planning evidence in last. 
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MR PREBBLE:   Yes, thank you.  And I hope I was careful with that question, 

sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, no, no, it is fine. 5 
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<WAYNE GALLOT, affirmed [10.47 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [10.47 am] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Now do you confirm that your name is Wayne Anderson 

Gallot? 

 5 

MR GALLOT:   Yes. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that you are a consultant traffic engineer? 

 

MR GALLOT:   Yes. 10 

 

MR PREBBLE:   That you have provided written evidence in respect of this 

matter? 

 

MR GALLOT:   Yes. 15 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that is true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR GALLOT:   Yes. 

 20 

MR PREBBLE:   Can you please remain for any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you very much, Mr Gallot.  Could I ask you a 25 

question about your paragraph 13 where you describe that the key 

transportation issues that typically need to be considered in relation to 

these schools include parking provision, loading facilities, site access 

and traffic generation?   

 30 

MR GALLOT:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And that those are matters contained in the Transport section of 

the Replacement Plan? 

 35 

MR GALLOT:   Correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   In your experience, are all those matters dealt with in an outline 

plan procedure under a designation? 

 40 

MR GALLOT:   I believe so, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So the equivalent here is the vehicular access circulation, the 

provision for parking, so you see those covering the same sorts of - - - 

 45 
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MR GALLOT:   I believe that that sentence covers all of those issues I have 

identified in 13. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And in your experience when Councils are looking at these 

issues for a proposal whether it is a resource consent or an outline plan, 5 

that consideration would be given to the District Plan standards in 

coming up with solutions or proposals? 

 

MR GALLOT:   It is my understanding from reading Mr Nixon’s evidence that 

yes it is the procedure that the Council would follow in referring back 10 

to the District Plan in the rules and assessment matters when 

considering the outline plan process. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   And they are really required to, are they not, under the 171 

process? 

 

MR GALLOT:   As I understand it from Mr Nixon’s evidence, yes. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, I want to ask you a more general question about, 

well firstly I see from your introduction that you seem to be in and 

around Christchurch for a fair while, can you tell me how long? 

 

MR GALLOT:   Yes, I first came to Christchurch in 1991. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, and you are familiar with all these schools in a general 

sense that we are talking about? 

 

MR GALLOT:   In a general sense, yes. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I really want to ask you about from a practical traffic 

engineering perspective and this is quite a general question so bear with 

me that we have heard evidence I think that these straight integrated 

schools are often quite small areas of land and they have evolved over 35 

time; do you see any difference in a general sense between their size, 

layout, ability to cope with traffic and parking access, and the streets 

they are located on, as opposed in a general sense to state schools 

which perhaps have larger areas? 

 40 

MR GALLOT:   No, in a general sense I do not see any difference and in a 

more specific sense looking at the schools that were identified in some 

of the submissions, I looked closely at during this process and found 

for the most part, in fact found for all of those situations, they provided 

more than required parking for example, their access locations were 45 

either all established in accordance with the rules of the plan and all 
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have been through a consent process or whatever process necessary to 

establish them. 

 

MR DAYSH:   That was not really my question, my question was when you 

look at the context of the schools as a whole, as opposed to state 5 

schools, are they generally on smaller sites and more tightly contained 

in a general sense? 

 

MR GALLOT:   That I am not too sure of. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   No, that is all I have, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, sir.  I just have one set of questions and it actually 15 

relates to both the integrated schools - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill, sorry if you could pick up the sound a bit, it is 

just the microphone, thank you, Mr Neill. 

 20 

MR NEILL:   My questions is really generic in that it involves both state and 

integrated schools but as a traffic engineer having regard to modern 

transportation of older students utilising family vehicles, is there an 

increase in the number of parking spaces that are required and what 

activity have you carried out to ascertain there is a substantial increase 25 

in car parking requirements for those sort of schools, and I think the 

Christ College recent publicity about senior students not having parks 

emphasised this. 

 

MR GALLOT:   In short, no I have not done any analysis of the available trip 30 

rates or parking demand rates or the available data to see if there is any 

trend and it is really just my casual observations, I could not say that I 

have noticed an increasing trend. 

 

MR NEILL:   Therefore my second question is; is there any difference in the 35 

state integrated schools and state schools regarding traffic movement 

and the like, or are they similar? 

 

MR GALLOT: They are identical as far as I can determine from my 

involvement in this process in looking at the district plan rules, the 40 

policies, the available published and/or otherwise available trip rates 

and survey data, parking demand rates, I can see no difference between 

state schools and state integrated schools. 

 

MR NEILL:  And from your evidence it suggests that they should therefore, 45 

from your perspective, be treated in exactly the same way? 
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MR GALLOT:   I see no reason why they should not be treated in exactly the 

same way. 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Dawson? 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Gallot, one of the schools where access of 

parking and traffic congestions raised in the most I think in the 

submissions is for Middleton Grange? 

 

MR GALLOT:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   You cover that and describe the issues and thank you very 

much, in your final paragraph you say that Council could appropriately 

consider any potential traffic parking access matters at the time of an 

outline plan proposal so I just want to understand how this could be 20 

addressed.   

 

 Middleton Grange has a relatively large site I think you say it was 

actually a reasonably large amount of room on that site so if they were 

able to grow and came along with an outline plan for additional 25 

classrooms or that would generate more traffic for example and an 

outline plan was presented to the Council how, in practical terms, 

would you see I think it is Acacia Avenue where most of the people are 

concerned about the access and congestion and the narrowness of the 

road, what practically could the Council do or request, if it received an 30 

outline plan, that could potentially increase more traffic on Acacia 

Avenue? 

 

MR GALLOT:   My understanding of the outline plan process in 176 is that the 

Council - - -  35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   176A. 

 

MR GALLOT:   176A, sorry – the Council can look at all of the regular traffic 

issues that they would in a resource consent process but also they can 40 

consider perhaps the location of accesses and car parking areas and 

building entrances, perhaps more so than they could under the district 

plan rules. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean they have to request changes I think that is for the 45 

outline plan, I mean that is the process they have, they cannot decline it 
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and say no we do not like it, they have to actually say change it to this 

but they cannot ask someone to purchase another property to provide 

another access to a different road for example, I doubt that that would 

be possible so what sort of changes could the Council ask for that if the 

Council thought that a proposal in this instance - - -  5 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sorry, and I do not like to interfere but the council can 

decline it under the ODP process. 

 

MS DAWSON:   They can decline an OPD? 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Well they can recommend that it would be declined, and then 

it goes to the Minister. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I did not think – could you point to - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Prebble, could you resume your seat please, thank 

you, could the questioning continue please? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Say it could not decline it, all I am interested in the 

practicalities of using the outline plan to address issues that if there was 20 

not a designation, well have been in the past that were through a 

resource consent process; I am trying to tease out from your 

experience, which presumably you have with outline plans, what sort of 

changes a Council could ask for if there was, and I am not saying there 

would be, if there was a real traffic issue like the effects of traffic 25 

congestion etcetera, being generated? 

 

MR GALLOT:   Right, I think those issues that I have identified in the 

evidence is the key issues being parking and access and specifically in 

response to what I think your question is, the location of those parking 30 

areas identified on the outline plan and their associated access points – 

sorry, the size, location of parking areas and access points. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So they could say, no you need to have your parking over 

here with an access out to this road, rather than onto this road? 35 

 

MR GALLOT:   Yes, they could suggest an appropriate road rather than 

something that is to maybe their knowledge is an issue or something 

they may have planned. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   They could ask for more parking on site rather than leaving 

more to the street to provide for etcetera. 

 

MR GALLOT:   Yes. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I do not have any further questions, thank you, your 

evidence is very clear and the answers assisted, you are free to go.  

Sorry questions arising, Mr Prebble, you are not quite free until that 

happens. 5 

 

MR PREBBLE:   No questions, thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN    No questions arising? – the matter that you raised before 

was a legal submission, Mr Prebble, you can address the Panel on that 10 

at the appropriate time. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sure. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.59 am] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, we will now take the morning recess and then Mr 

Nixon through after that. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.00 am] 20 

 

RESUMED [11.18 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much.  Now, call Mr Nixon, 

Mr Prebble. 25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, if it pleases the Panel, I will call Mr Nixon. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.   

 30 
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<ROBERT CHARLES NIXON, sworn [11.18 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [11.18 am] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you Mr Nixon, can you please confirm that your full 

name is Robert Charles Nixon? 

 5 

MR NIXON:   I do. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that you have prepared a written statement of evidence-

in-chief and a written statement of rebuttal evidence on behalf of the 

Ministry of Education? 10 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I have.   

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that the content of that evidence is true and correct? 

 15 

MR NIXON:   I do. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay, can you please remain for any questions.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but you may want to present a brief summary if you 20 

wish, Mr Nixon. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I do sir, if I may.  The Minister sought the designation of 

26 SIS – I will use that term for state integrated schools, in addition to 

110 state schools which are already designated in Christchurch. 25 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

 I will just clarify that quickly.  There are actually 118 schools in the list 

of designations because you will hear this figure come up a number of 30 

times.  I think of those 118 about 110 are actually operational, so that is 

the distinction there. 

 

 The issue in contention is whether conditions should be applied to the 

designations of these 26 SIS and if so, under what circumstances.  Of 35 

the 110 existing operational state schools within the city, only four 

have conditions and these relate to site specific matters and I can 

expand on that if you wish.  Otherwise existing state school 

designations do not have conditions and are only subject to outline plan 

procedures under section 176A.   40 

 

 Following the notification of the NORs, by my count 29 submissions 

were received on 11 of the 26 SIS including two from the Council itself 

on two schools.  Since discussions began with the Council around 

October 2014 and following mediation the Council’s position and that 45 

of the Minister have become very much closer.  There is still a 
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philosophical difference with the Council taking the position that if SIS 

are designated without conditions this will have a greater potential for 

adverse effects on neighbours and would be the case under a rules-

based regime prior to designation. 

 5 

 I added this point that when a Council considers conditions on a 

designation it would logically take into account the provisions of the 

Plan, in this case chapter 21 which contains the Special Purpose School 

Zone provisions. 

 10 

 The site specific condition was notified with respect to the boundary of 

St Theresa’s School in Riccarton Bush and other site-specific 

conditions have been agreed with the Council in terms of a heritage 

building, a reduced heritage setting and a protected tree on the site of 

Middleton Grange School.  That school is the only one of the 26 SIS 15 

having heritage features of that nature, so it is quite unique to that 

school.   

 

 A condition regarding an acoustic fence arising out of a recent resource 

consent for the redevelopment of Mairehau Catholic Primary School to 20 

be renamed St Francis of Assisi has also been accepted.   

 

 It is probably fair to say that the conditions that have been agreed 

through mediation probably do not go as far as the Council might 

ideally have liked and probably go beyond what the Minister would 25 

have liked, however the final result does represent something which 

may not be ideal for everyone, but it is the result of an attempt by all 

the parties to try and reach an acceptable accomodation with respect to 

conditions. 

 30 

 I remain of the view that what are called generic conditions, such as 

setback, coverage, height, noise, traffic and parking should be dealt 

with through the outline plan provisions and not conditions as these are 

matters which could arise on the boundary of any school, including 

state schools.  While I accept that some schools have the potential to 35 

have greater adverse effects than others, this would result from the 

individual characteristics of the school itself, not from the tenure of the 

school.   

 

 However I have no concerns with site specific conditions and one 40 

example the St Theresa School which adjoins Riccarton Bush, which is 

a unique feature and it has a special setback requirement, so I have no 

concerns with conditions of that nature.   

 

 In fact, by way of contrast there is a submission relating from a 45 

neighbour from Christ the King School who adjoins the playground of 
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that school and looks out over the playground, and he has basically said 

well look I want to have conditions controlling where any buildings can 

be placed on the playground.  The problem I have with those sorts of 

submissions is that, that is a circumstance that could arise for any 

neighbour of any school, state or otherwise, that looks out over a 5 

playground, so it would have general application, and that is an 

example of the sort of condition that I would feel very uncomfortable 

about. 

 

 With respect to the Council’s proposals for a consultation condition, I 10 

foresee considerable practical difficulties with this, quite apart from the 

fact that it is quite unusual and would appear to have the effect of 

qualifying the application of section 176A.  Assuming the Council 

intends that consultation would only occur on any non-compliances 

with the Council rules, I would foresee considerable difficulty in 15 

containing consultation only to the effects arising from the non-

compliances, particularly given the content of the submissions that 

have been lodged, many of which seek restrictions going far beyond the 

Council’s own rules and potentially beyond what may have been 

permitted in the past under a resource consent. 20 

 

 In these circumstances the requiring authority will be put in the most 

invidious position of either accepting restrictions which go far beyond 

those non-compliances, or seeking to confine restrictions to the non-

compliances.   25 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 

 This could also put the Council in a most difficult position as to 

whether to demand wide-ranging conditions or to create a scenario 30 

where the expectations of the parties consulted were significantly 

disappointed.   

 

 There are also difficulties in deciding who should require to be 

consulted, for example the Council suggested a consultation regime 35 

based on a submission from a near neighbour of Christchurch Adventist 

School who does not even adjoin the site proposed to be designated.  

Now this suggests the Council has contemplated wide-ranging 

consultation with the wider community of a school, a potentially very 

costly and prolonged burden which no state school would be subject to. 40 

 

 Differentiating between SIS and state schools through conditions does 

not, to my knowledge, have any support in case law; it does not arise 

anywhere in the Council’s section 32 assessments for the School Zone, 

or in terms of the Council’s own experience with administering outline 45 

plan provisions for the 110 operational state schools. 
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 I also consider such differentiation sits very uncomfortably with the 

Statement of Expectations, and with the provisions of objective 3.3.2A 

of the Strategic Directions chapter of the RDP.  Thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well thanks very much, Mr Nixon.  Now we 

have got questions from Mr Lanning I think.  You are the only one I 

think with a notice to cross examine? 

 

MR LANNING:   That is correct, sir, yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR LANNING [11.27 am] 

 15 

MR LANNING:   Good morning, Mr Nixon. 

 

MR NIXON:   Morning. 

 

MR LANNING:   Now we will just start off and a number of these questions I 20 

think were covered to a large extent by the interchange between the 

Panel and Mr Prebble this morning, but just to run through them 

quickly.  So the proposal that is before the Panel, this is for new 

designations, that is correct is it not? 

 25 

MR NIXON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR LANNING:   It is correct is it not, that prior to notification of this proposal 

there was no consultation on the notice of requirement? 

 30 

MR NIXON:   That is correct. 

 

MR LANNING:   And you would agree with your counsel that as new notices 

of requirement they must be assessed in terms of section 171 of the 

Act, that is correct, is it not? 35 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:  Is it your understanding that in the course of considering 

these matters under section 171 the Panel must consider the adverse 40 

effects that could be generated by these designations? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR LANNING:   Do you accept that the Panel must do that even if there are 45 

no submissions that have been lodged on the notices of requirement? 
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MR NIXON:   Yes, I understand that. 

 

MR LANNING:   All right.  Do you agree that each notice of requirement must 

be assessed on its merits? 5 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   And that there may be differences in terms of what effects 

might be generated from proposed designation to proposed designation, 10 

that is correct, is it not? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes; as I have said in evidence schools, depending on the nature 

of the schools themselves, will have different levels of effects on the 

environment. 15 

 

MR LANNING:   And so, would you agree with me if I was to say that the 

Panel in assessing adverse effects needs to take into account two things, 

one it needs to be satisfied that it understands the receiving 

environment adequately, does it not? 20 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   Secondly the Panel needs to adequately understand the 

nature and scale of the effects that might be generated, that is correct, is 25 

it not? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:  Then once there is an adequate understanding of the 30 

receiving environment and the adverse effects that might be generated, 

then would you agree that the Panel can then determine whether 

conditions are required to address those effects?  Is that a fair summary 

of the analysis the Panel needs to go through? 

 35 

MR NIXON:   Yes, it depends on the nature and the scale of the effects that 

might be generated by that school, or also having regarded to schools 

as a whole. 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes.  Now I understand and I think you just confirmed it 40 

with your overview, that your view is that the default position should 

be that there is no need for any conditions on these State Integrated 

School designations, is that correct? 

 

MR NIXON:  My position is that I have no objection to site specific conditions 45 

that relate to particular characteristics of the school.  I gave the 
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St Theresa’s example.  There are the ones I have agreed with the 

Council relating to Middleton Grange because of its unique heritage 

characteristic, so not “no conditions”, but not what would be possibly 

termed generic conditions that would be typical of the kind of issues 

that arise with schools generally, whether they are state schools or any 5 

other sort of school. 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR LANNING:   So just on that, because that is different to my understanding 10 

of your evidence.  If you just have a look at paragraph 4 of your 

evidence-in-chief, and in particular the last four lines of that paragraph, 

just have a look at that.   

 

MR NIXON:   Of the introduction? 15 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, so paragraph 4, the last four lines.  You say there “I 

record that some of the agreements reached in the mediation do not 

reflect your professional opinion”, et cetera? 

 20 

MR NIXON:   That is correct, some of them do not. 

 

MR LANNING:   So just to clarify what you are saying there, a number of 

those agreements that were reached in mediation do involve site 

specific conditions, do they not? 25 

 

MR NIXON:   They involve conditions relating to things such as setbacks and 

recession planes.   

 

MR LANNING:   On specific schools in relation to specific neighbours, do 30 

they not? 

 

MR NIXON:   They do, but what I have gone on to say in my evidence is that 

they are issues that could arise with other State Integrated Schools or 

other state schools.  Buildings can be put close to the boundary of any 35 

school. 

 

MR LANNING:   But what you are saying in paragraph 4, is it not, that you do 

not think those site specific conditions are required, from your 

professional point of view? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I think he is saying is that they are not site specific, 

(INDISTINCT 1.34) other sites is that right Mr Nixon? 

 

MR NIXON:   That is correct.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just so that we understand each other.   

 

MR LANNING:   Well, okay, you are opposed to generic conditions.  Now I 

understand the reason for that is this like-for-like argument, is that 

correct? 5 

 

MR NIXON:   Basically, yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   It is not based on any assessment of receiving environments 

and potential adverse effects on those environments, is it? 10 

 

MR NIXON:   No, I wouldn’t agree with that, because in taking account of the 

receiving environment we have to look at what the effects are likely to 

be and whether those effects could be adequately dealt with through an 

Outline Plan procedure.  15 

 

MR LANNING:   All right.  Now, you accept do you not, that - actually if we 

move on from that, it is correct though isn’t it, there is a very strong 

theme throughout your evidence is that State Integrated Schools should 

be treated the same as state schools, that is correct, is it not? 20 

 

MR NIXON:   Well I think as a general planning principle that activities which 

have same or similar effects on their receiving environment should be 

treated equally, whether it is state schools or any other activity that 

takes place in the environment.   25 

 

MR LANNING:   All right.  But you accept that the existing state schools have 

had longstanding designations on them, have they not? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, but I don’t see that as particularly relevant in terms of the 30 

effects they may or may not have on the environment. 

 

MR LANNING:   And the proposed designations in this case, they cover land 

which will have the special school zone on them, do they not? 

 35 

MR NIXON:   Yes.   

 

MR LANNING:   And would you agree that that special school zone is 

relatively permissive in terms of what could be built on that land.   

 40 

MR NIXON:   Whether it be permissive in terms of a particular development 

on a school site is almost impossible to determine in advance.  I would 

imagine in the majority of cases that would probably comply with those 

rules.   

 45 
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MR LANNING:   Right, thank you.  But we can presume that the Minister 

wants more than those zone rules will permit? 

 

 

MR NIXON:   I think we can assume the Minister wants the same framework, 5 

which at the moment I think the Council is entirely satisfied with their 

110 state schools, and these state schools - - - 

 

MR LANNING:   No, no, hang on - - - 

 10 

MR NIXON:   - - - hang on - - - 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes. 

 

MR NIXON:   - - - that system, the Council is satisfied that system has worked 15 

well  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, just pause Mr Nixon.  A little bit of decorum, 

please.  Questions are to be answered, the witness is not to engage in an 

argument with counsel, and we just then can receive the best evidence, 20 

so please – have you got the question understood, Mr Nixon? 

 

MR NIXON:   Perhaps you might have to repeat it, sorry. 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, sorry, it might have been the way I said it.  Sir, the 25 

question Mr Nixon, is you have agreed that the Special School Zone 

will enable most likely activities on these schools, is that a fair 

summary of how you answered my previous question? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, probably.   30 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

MR LANNING:   But is it fair to presume that by seeking these designations 

the Minister wants more, in terms of what will be allowed on these 35 

sites? 

 

MR NIXON:   He wants the same framework as it would have for state 

schools, which I understand would mean the Council would consider 

the Outline Plan, they would logically apply the provisions of the plan 40 

rules in making their recommendations to the Minister.   

 

MR LANNING:   But it is correct, is it not, Mr Nixon, that the designation 

will, and I will use the word “permit” loosely, they will authorise 

activities that go beyond what is permitted by the school zone, that is 45 

correct, isn’t it? 
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MR NIXON:   It means they do not have to have strict compliance with the 

rules, and if that created an issue the Council of course has the right to 

appeal, if the Minister does not accept the Council’s recommendations, 

which he might, then there is a Right of Appeal by the Council against 5 

it, it’s the Minister’s decision.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you answer to his question is yes or no? 

 

MR NIXON:   It’s a different process which does not involve third party rights, 10 

put it that way. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does it allow for more than what the rules allow for, that 

was the question.  

 15 

MR LANNING:   Yes. 

 

MR NIXON:   It would allow the Minister to do things that may not be in 

compliance with the rules. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.   

 

MR LANNING:   Do you accept though, and we will come back to the Outline 

Plan of Works process maybe later, but do you accept that – going back 

to this issue of needing to understand what the effects of these 25 

designations are, do you accept that there should be some limit on what 

these designations might authorise? 

 

MR NIXON:   What I have said in evidence, I think there is a case for having 

limits with respect to what are generally site specific considerations, 30 

otherwise I am taking the view that you do not need generic conditions 

and one of the bases for saying that is that the Council itself seems to 

be entirely satisfied that the Outline Plan provisions have worked very 

well for the 110 state schools without having significant adverse effects 

on the environment. 35 

 

MR LANNING:   And what do you base that Council view on, why do you say 

that that is the Council’s view? 

 

MR NIXON:   Because the Council confirmed that to me last year and it is 40 

addressed in my evidence-in-chief; they concluded that there was no 

need for any conditions on state school designations.   

 

MR LANNING:   So is this the email that is quoted at the top of page 5 of your 

evidence-in-chief? 45 
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MR NIXON:   Yes.   

 

MR LANNING:   Where in that paragraph that is quoted does it say that the 

Council is satisfied that the Outline Plan of Works is satisfactory? 

 5 

MR NIXON:   “The outcome of these considerations was that no significant 

issues were identified which in the view of officers would warrant a 

submission seeking conditional conditions…”, and that was also the 

view conveyed to me verbally in meetings I had with the Council in 

October last year.   10 

 

MR LANNING:   All right, so that is the entirety of the evidence to support the 

statement that the Council believes the Outline Plans are good enough? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, and I have heard nothing since that time that would suggest 15 

otherwise.   

 

MR LANNING:   Would you accept that it is normal for designations to 

include conditions which prescribe the level of effect that might be 

generated by the designated works? 20 

 

MR NIXON:   I am not sure whether I accept that or not, some designations in 

the plan, I think Christchurch Airport is one, it does not have any 

conditions attached to it, but not necessarily.  Some designations have 

conditions attached to them, others don’t.  25 

 

MR LANNING:   Is it your experience with things like roads designations, that 

they would have conditions which prescribe or at least describe the size 

of the built form that might be provided on the designated site? 

 30 

MR NIXON:   Well bear in mind that in this case the schools being designated 

are not seeking additional development through the designation, they 

are existing schools, their effects have already been – they were either 

authorised by resource consent, or they have existing use rights at the 

very least, but I would expect that would be authorised by the resource 35 

consent.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Nixon’s answer did not relate to roads and Mr Nixon 

is not giving evidence on roads, just keep that in mind.   

 40 

MR LANNING:   I appreciate that, sir.  That answer perplexes me a little bit, 

Mr Nixon.  The designations that are proposed for these school sites 

will authorise building work, won’t they? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 45 
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MR LANNING:   Right.  And that building work will go beyond what might 

have already been authorised on these sites? 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 5 

MR NIXON:   Yes, in the future, yes, through outline plan provisions if they 

do not comply with the provisions of the plan. 

 

MR LANNING:   But in this case, apart from these certain site specific 

conditions that we have heard about, there are no conditions which will 10 

give any clarity as to what might be built on these school sites, is there, 

or would there? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, they would have the same clarity, or lack of it, that the 110 

state schools have. 15 

 

MR LANNING:   And I understand that the purpose for the Minister seeking 

this is to enable some flexibility as to what might be provided on a 

school, is that a fair comment? 

 20 

MR NIXON:   It provides greater flexibility in terms of not having to go 

through third party procedures.  Other than the appeal provisions are 

only different in the sense that it is the Council that would have to 

appeal rather than the Minister with the resource consent. 

 25 

MR LANNING:   So there is a higher degree of flexibility sought, would you 

agree that, and to be fair subject to the outline plan process, but there is 

flexibility sought – so would it be fair to say that there is a reasonable 

amount of uncertainty as to what effects might be generated by these 

designations? 30 

 

MR NIXON:   Well, to me a school is a school, I cannot see that there will be 

any more uncertainty through this process than what you would have 

with all the 110 state schools.   

 35 

MR LANNING:   But you agree - - - 

 

MR NIXON:   And I am not aware, the Council have produced no evidence 

that that is causing problems. 

 40 

MR LANNING:   But you would agree that there is uncertainty? 

 

MR NIXON:   Uncertainty with all designated schools, state and otherwise. 

 

MR LANNING:   Now, from what you have said and again in your evidence 45 

and you have confirmed it now, you believe that it is appropriate to rely 
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on the outline plan of works process as the primary means to manage 

the effects, is that correct? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR LANNING:   And you have reached that view without any assumptions or 

descriptions as to what effects might need to be managed through that 

process, haven’t you? 

 

MR NIXON:   Well, section 176A specifies matters to be taken into account in 10 

terms of effects. 

 

MR LANNING:   But there is little certainty as to what size of development 

might be proposed to be authorised through an outline plan process, is 

there? 15 

 

MR NIXON:   Well, my answer has to be the same as the previous answer; it 

would be the same process with all other schools. 

 

MR LANNING:   Now, just looking at this outline plan works process, you are 20 

aware that it is intended to include matters to avoid, remedy or mitigate 

adverse effects, that is correct, is it not? 

 

MR NIXON:   Sorry - - - 

 25 

MR LANNING:   Sorry, I probably said that too quickly.  The outline plan of 

works, section 176A refers to it including matters to avoid, remedy or 

mitigate adverse effects, as you understand it? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 30 

 

MR LANNING:   Would you agree that like any resource management or most 

resource management decisions outline plan decisions should be made 

on an informed basis, would you agree with that? 

 35 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   And would you regard it as important for the Minister to 

have regard to the impact of proposed developments on neighbours 

when putting together an outline plan? 40 

 

MR NIXON:   Absolutely. 

 

MR LANNING:   You would agree with Mr Nolan’s answer to a question this 

morning that talking with neighbours is crucial? 45 
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MR NIXON:   Well, it certainly depends on the scale of the work.  Mr Nolan’s 

question was relating to a major redevelopment of combining two 

schools on one site.  If it were perhaps a recession plane issue or a 

setback issue affecting one or two neighbours then it might be a 

different story, the degree of consultation may be quite confined 5 

possibly. 

 

MR LANNING:   But you would agree, would you not, that consultation with 

neighbours would help ensure that their views are not disregarded 

through the process?   10 

 

MR NIXON:   I consider it would be a matter of good practice rather than a 

mandatory statutory requirement because that is not required of any 

other schools. 

 15 

MR LANNING:   And just a last couple of questions.  Well, okay, no, we will 

stick with that.  Now, I understand from your overview that you gave 

before that, and add matters if I have not got them correct, but in terms 

of your concerns about consultation on the outline plan, you mentioned 

two things, you mentioned some concerns over who should be 20 

consulted, like how much consultation would be required, that is one of 

your key concerns? 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 25 

MR NIXON:   Yes, one of them, yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   And another one, as I understood it, was what expectations 

might be created amongst the community? 

 30 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   So just looking at that first issue about who should be 

consulted, we could address that through the wording of conditions, 

couldn’t we?  We could prescribe who should be consulted in any 35 

particular case? 

 

MR NIXON:   Are you talking about conditions on the designation? 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, sorry, I have leapt ahead.  So if the Panel was minded 40 

to require some level of engagement or consultation on an outline plan, 

so if the Panel reaches that view, this concern about who should be 

consulted that could be addressed through wording of the condition, 

couldn’t it? 

 45 
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MR NIXON:   I see it difficult to put that in a condition because of the highly 

variable nature of the work she will be likely to receive, it is going to 

be very much almost a judgment on the day. 

 

MR LANNING:   Or could it be, for instance, the condition required 5 

engagement with the directly adjacent neighbours or words to like 

effect? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I suppose it could always get the sort of problems that the 

Council itself has experienced from time to time as to what is meant by 10 

“directly affected” but I suppose such a condition could narrow it a bit. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Directly adjacent. 

 

MR LANNING:   Directly adjacent or abutting to that boundary, adjacent to 15 

the building development - - - 

 

MR NIXON:   That gets to be a problem with some rules like coverage for 

example, because who would you consult then? – It would have to be 

everybody one assumes or possibly height would be another one where 20 

it would be difficult to apply a rule like that. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I suggest, sir, that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Prebble, if you want to address the Panel in the middle 25 

of cross-examination I suggest you stand up 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay, sorry, I apologise. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Other counsel has to sit down as Mr Lanning has done. 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes.  I was just simply going to say that, in terms of that 

question, Mr Nixon cannot speak for other parties in respect of what 

they might agree to so there is a difficulty - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you objecting to the question? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Well - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I overrule it, carry on, Mr Lanning.  Sit down, Mr Prebble. 40 

 

MR LANNING:   Thank you, sir.  So just to sort of finish that off, and I will 

try not to ask him a closed way, because I think it is a useful question 

to answer.  This issue over who should be consulted and if the Panel is 

concerned that that should be narrowed to particular people that is 45 

possible to be done through words in a condition, isn’t it? 
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MR NIXON:   Thinking again about rules like height and coverage and even 

traffic generation, I have got some issues about that.  I mean I am not 

trying to be difficult here genuinely. 

 5 

MR LANNING:   No, I understand that. 

 

MR NIXON:   Because like many planners I have encountered this problem 

before and the Council almost encounters it every day, but it would be 

very difficult in my view to write a rule around some of them.  For 10 

things like a setback or a recession plane sure, I agree with you, but for 

some of those other rules, very difficult. 

 

MR LANNING:   And I guess and, sir, sorry, I am going on this still a bit, but 

the questions are not quite as focused but I think this is a 15 

(INDISTINCT 3.24) and I am going on a bit long - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That would be an understatement. 

 

MR LANNING:   Sorry, sir.  Well, maybe I will close it off then, but in terms 20 

of the expectations concern you have, could that be addressed by, for 

example, having a condition which very clearly set out the requiring 

authority’s obligation in terms of, for example, the obligation of the 

condition would be to provide a draft outline plan to particular 

neighbours, would that resolve some of this expectation issue, if the 25 

only requirement was to provide a draft outline plan of works to the 

neighbours? 

 

MR NIXON:   And that is all they would have to do? 

 30 

MR LANNING:   And the neighbours then have, say, 10 days to respond and if 

nothing is responded to then that is the end of the obligation, would that 

address some of your concerns? 

 

MR NIXON:   Well, it would certainly enable the, as I say it is matter of good 35 

practice to enable the neighbours to see what might be happening.  My 

concerns about expectations were raised, and a good example is the 

Middleton Grange scenario and you will recall it, sir, through 

mediation, where people basically said “Well, you know, we are really 

annoyed about the fact that people have, the school has events outside 40 

normal hours”, which I imagine is a problem with many schools. My 

wife and I recently attended an event at Paparoa Street School which is 

a state school at the end of a dead end street, there were cars parked for 

miles up the street so people will get upset about things like that.   

 45 
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 And I suspect what will happen is that with any form of mandatory 

consultation you get the situation where people will come along and 

say “Well, I am really annoyed, I am not worried about the setback but 

by golly I am really annoyed about the on street parking”, and I think it 

would be a nightmare for the Council as much as it would be for the 5 

Minister. 

 

  [11.50 am] 

 

MR LANNING:   Thank you, I have no further questions, sir, thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and I will – just take questions from the Panel 

next, Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, good morning, Mr Nixon, I think it is still morning just, 15 

given that we seem to be certainly between the Minister and the 

Council down to a narrow range of conditions, I am going to ask you 

quite a narrow range of questions this morning, less so than I would 

have if you had not come to that agreement, so I would like to thank 

you very much for sort of working hard on those conditions up to this 20 

point. 

 

 The first question I have about is, the ability for a decision-maker to 

impose conditions, do you see any restrictions under 171 about the 

range or type of conditions that might be imposed on designations? 25 

 

MR NIXON:   Well my understanding is, and I think may have been asked by 

the Chairman, but my understanding is, if the Panel could if it chose to, 

could go way beyond the conditions that have actually been agreed in 

mediation, so I am pretty clear in my own mind about that – I am not 30 

sure if that is answering your question, but I certainly understand that 

there is relatively little fettering of what the Panel might decide. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I think that does answer the question, thank you. 

 35 

 So with new schools, we have heard some evidence from Ms Dixon 

that new schools that have gone through a notice of requirement 

process outside the plan process, have been provided with a range of 

conditions, have you read those, in her evidence? 

 40 

MR NIXON:   Yes.  That is correct, she is quite right on that point. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And is your experience with, what I call “Modern 

Designations”, ones that were done 10/20 years ago, that there is a 

practice of actually imposing conditions on notice of requirement for 45 

schools and other facilities these days? 
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MR NIXON:   Yes, I think I would agree with the general observation that, as 

– well what you called a “designation practice” of what of a better term 

has evolved the years, there has been a tendency to become more 

detailed with respect to conditions and certainly some of the roading 5 

projects are examples of that now. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  I asked Mr Nolan about the growth potential and 

opportunities and aspirations of the SIS schools and he focused it on 

the southwest area, and is your expectation that some of the schools 10 

will be experiencing growth and development to a significant degree in 

the next say five years? 

 

MR NIXON:   My understanding and I have spoken to all of the proprietors 

concerned, is that the number that will have substantial growth is very 15 

small.  Aidanfield is an unusual one, in that it is in a major growth area 

of the city and it is almost in some ways like a second Middleton 

Grange, the two schools are quite closely linked to each other. 

 

 For many of the schools, like most of the catholic diocese schools, most 20 

of their rolls are projected to remain almost the same – a great majority 

of them will hardly increase at all. 

 

 And in recent – in the last few weeks, in the case of Christchurch 

Adventists, if you look at the NOR I think they were talking – about 25 

going from 270 to 340, well that ambitions now totally dead in the 

water.  The maximum they can accept is another 20 students, the 

Ministry of Educations has made it very clear that they will not be able 

to expand beyond that level. 

 30 

 So you are only going to get a few unusual schools, like Emmanuel and 

Aidanfield, which will have significant growth. 

 

 I should also add here that, for most of these schools the primary issues 

going to be replacing old classroom stock as years roll on, so it is more 35 

upgrading their schools rather than expanding them that is going to be 

the issue. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you for that. 

 40 

 I would like to ask you about the mediation that occurred and the 

parties, you attended the mediation? 

 

MR NIXON:   I certainly did, yes. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Now apart form – we are getting some evidence today I think 

from people around Hill – is it Hillview - - -  

 

MR NIXON:   Hillview Christian School. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   - - - Christian School?  Are there any other parties that you are 

aware of that are not here today or were attending the mediation that 

have not sort of signed up to the conditions – these are just between the 

Minister and the Council, as I understand it? 

 10 

MR NIXON:   There were – sorry, think about this – two submitters at 

Hillview which the Minister did not accept and they were not attending 

the hearing – just trying to think of the other ones there were – the ones 

relating to St Bede’s and St Thomas’s College did not attend either.  

There was a gentleman who attended in respect to Christ the King 15 

School, I am not sure he is able to be here today, but the Minister did 

not accept his submission either. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 20 

 So from memory the only people that turned up were – well, I will just 

name the schools where there were submitters because probably easier 

– Emmanuel, and an arrangement was reached with them except for 

one neighbour, Hillview, Middleton Grange and Christ the King I think 

– I am going a bit on memory here but I think that is correct, people 25 

from – neighbours of those four. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right.  I suppose the question is, that has this memorandum is 

just between the Council and the Minister - - -  

 30 

MR NIXON:   Yes, correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - does not purport to sort of sign off any other submitters? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, it does – Burrows who is a submitter on Emmanuel – well 35 

Mr Lanning will interrupt if I am wrong here – but I think they are part 

and parcel of it - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   All right. 

 40 

MR NIXON:   - - - four submitters at the northern end of Hillview School are 

party to it, but not in respect to a noise rule which the Minister did not 

accept, and Middleton Grange with six of their neighbours, they are 

party to an agreement on recession plane – I think that is it. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   But they are not shown as parties on the memorandum are 

they? How do we record their agreement? 

 

MR NIXON:   There was a signed agreement circulated at the mediation which 

Mr Prebble recorded. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   So is that front of us do we know? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   The mediation agreement has really not progressed much 

since then, in the sense that although we have tried to get that signed 10 

off, that has not occurred.  So we can only progress on the basis that 

there is an agreement between the Council, the requiring authority and 

those that have signed.  And then we can I guess only proceed on the 

basis that those that attend the hearing and seek to oppose the outcomes 

sought. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   But Mr Nixon looking at the joint memorandum of - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a minute, Mr Daysh, excuse me – Mr Prebble could 

you stand up please? 20 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Look, this is the second time I have had to raise this, and 

you have done it again; and when it comes to questioning or Panel 25 

questioning and so forth, could you please stand if you wish to address. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The reason I ask for that, is that - - -  30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I, I, I - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, be quiet please – the reason I ask for that is simply to 

ensure decorum and to ensure that in fact the Panel understands you 35 

addressing the Panel.  Bearing in mind this is cross-examination and 

examination of a witness, counsel needs to be particularly mindful of 

those protocol requirements to ensure due process – that is all I have 

got to say, thank you. 

 40 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh, thank you. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And, sir, I understand and I fully apologise. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   It is just a simple courtesy and it signals to me, as the 

Chair, that you have something that is important for the Panel to 

understand in regard to the line of questioning, whether it is an 

objection or an issue, I can understand that. 

 5 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   This is not a chitchat – thank you. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, Mr Nixon, do you have the memorandum in front of you 10 

there? 

 

MR NIXON:   Sorry, you referring to the agreed memorandum? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, the 17 December memorandum. 15 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So that is signed by the Christchurch City Council, there is a 

Ministers name there that has not signed, but it is agreed that is the 20 

position? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   There are no other signatures to this agreement? 25 

 

MR NIXON:   No, there are not. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think it would be helpful if there was another 

agreement, as between other submitters and the Minister and the City 30 

Council, that that should and could be provided? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I think it would be useful to record that those parties had 

agreed.  I imagine that – I think the representative of the Hillview 

School parties are here and she may well have a view on that as well, 35 

but yes I agree that probably would be helpful. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  I want to follow up on some questions about 40 

whether you think there are any planning differences, quite apart from 

the legal like for like around what legal status they have, any material 

planning, environmental or contextual differences in general terms 

between the sorts of schools we are dealing with for your client, SIS 

and state schools?  I am thinking about size, location, those types of 45 

planning issues? 
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MR NIXON:   I am not aware that either – I certainly have not analysed them 

relative to state schools.  I do not think the Council has either.  In all of 

the NLRs I have set out there the site coverage for each school and 

basic information about each school and the rolls and suchlike which 5 

gives a big of a picture of what they are like.  Some schools, like 

Christchurch Adventist, St Mark’s are examples of schools that are on 

smaller sites.  New Brighton Catholic is probably another one that 

would be a school on a small site.   

 10 

 So I can say that some of the SIS are on more cramped sites although 

none of them exceed the coverage limits that are allowed by the District 

Plan.  But again I think that is more a characteristic of particular 

schools rather than State Integrated Schools.  Other State Integrated 

Schools have very large open spaces like St Bede’s for instance and 15 

St Thomas’s and schools like that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you.  I want to ask you a question about 176A, or 

two questions actually.  Do you have 176A in front of you that we can 

perhaps refer to?  So this is the outline plan section of the Act, that is 20 

correct, is it not? 

 

MR NIXON:   That is correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:  Yes, so in your paragraph 59 of your evidence-in-chief, page 10, 25 

if you could have a look at that. 

 

MR NIXON:   Sorry my apologies, which page number? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Page 10 of your evidence-in-chief. 30 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I have got that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Paragraph 59.   

 35 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I have got that, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Could you read into the record the first two and a half lines of 

the statement, up to the comma? 

 40 

MR NIXON:   Yes.  “I consider that the use of processes under outline plans 

submitted under section 176A of the Act provides for Council to 

require appropriate changes if required to test those on appeal if 

necessary.”   

 45 
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 Yes, I can see what the problem is there, sloppy language on my part, I 

should not use the word “require”, and (INDISTINCT 3.00) 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so do you agree that the term “require” should be replaced 

by “request”? 5 

 

MR NIXON:   Correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you.  Now if we could look at 176A3 which is 

what an outline plan must show when it is lodged, I want to ask you a 10 

question about 3B which reads, “The location on the site of the public 

work project or work”. 

 

 I think your evidence is that that provides a very useful different and 

additional power to look at details around exactly where facilities might 15 

be placed on a site that you would not necessarily be able to control 

under the zone?  Is that correct, sorry? 

 

MR NIXON:   Well looking at 3B, the location on the site of the public project 

or work, my approach to that would be if I was considering an outline 20 

plan on behalf of the Council would be to look at setback requirements 

in terms of B in formulating a recommendation to the Minister.  I could 

put it that way.  I hope that answers the question. 

 

MR DAYSH:   If you are looking at a particular area of the site that had 25 

sensitive neighbours, would you be looking at locating access, parking 

away from them when you are preparing the outline plan, if there was 

potential to do that? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes.   30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  And if you were relying on the Zone provisions, and 

you just had a requirement to provide a certain number of parks, could 

you actually control the location on the site as a permitted activity? 

 35 

MR NIXON:   Well by a strange irony you are actually better off in terms of 

location of car parking, under the outline plan provisions because I 

think I am correct in saying that all the District Plan does is give you 

access point obviously off the road and it will give you a number of car 

parks you have to provide and the dimensions of them. 40 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

 I do not think it has any control over how you get to it within the site or 

where it actually is placed. 45 
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MR DAYSH:  All right that is a point in my question so you see that as a - - - 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, you are actually better off under an outline plan for the 

location of a car park. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  And potentially for other locations of 

other parts of a work, a building or an accessway or – do you agree 

with that? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes in theory you could under and outline plan and it is 10 

interesting with the Christ the King example, it could request a location 

of a building perhaps further from the boundary than the plan requires 

although I imagine there would have to be other non-compliances to 

trigger that kind of approach. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  I do have a couple of questions about 

your appendix 2 which is where you go on to the detail assessment of 

the submissions in relation to the individual notice of requirements.   

 

MR NIXON:   Okay. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Now I wanted to go firstly to paragraph 54 on page 11, and the 

underlying part of that, and this really comes back to my question about 

these agreements, whether we do in fact have written recorded 

agreements in front of us.   25 

 

 So you recall that there was agreement reached in principle, has that 

been finalised? 

 

MR NIXON:   Sorry I am looking at paragraph 54, this is on page 35 - - - 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Page 11 of attachment 2. 

 

MR NIXON:   Sorry, what school is that, might I ask? 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   That is Middleton Grange School. 

 

MR NIXON:   Okay.  Yes, now there is, following discussions with the school 

it is agreed that protection of the tree was acceptable and the 

relationship to the listed building.  Is that what the question relates to? 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Has that agreement been finalised? 

 

MR NIXON:  Yes.  Discussions have taken place since mediation with Council 

officers.  We have agreed on an identified setting.  We have agreed that 45 

the historic Middleton Grange homestead be listed as a protected 
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building which is what gives the school its name, and we have agreed 

on the protection of a very large chestnut tree and they will be cross-

referenced into chapter 9 of the Plan which is the chapter containing 

heritage provisions.   

 5 

 Now each of those, I have not got it in front of me but there will be a 

heritage setting number, there will be a heritage building number and 

there will be a similar identification for the tree.  So we are in complete 

agreement with the Council on that. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   Is that included in the conditions we have in front of us? 

 

MR NIXON:   I will just have a look here, I believe it is, excuse me a minute.   

 

 So if you look at L126 Middleton Grange School, page 8 of 19, 15 

conditions.  This designation does not authorise the alteration, 

relocation, demolition, reconstruction or heritage upgrade works on the 

heritage items schedule in the plan as former dwelling Middleton, 

heritage item 27, as shown on heritage aerial map 28 in attachment 1, 

then it goes on to talk about the setting and the tree specimen. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   So the answer is yes? 

 

MR NIXON:   The answer is yes.  I was a bit worried it was not there and I 

was about to get extremely worried about that. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, I noted that before, I got hold of that.  So can we 

now look at 71 on your appendix 2, page 13?  This is a submission 

from Jacqueline Property Trust, where you say you have not been able 

to ascertain where the submitter owns a property adjacent.  Do you 30 

have any more information for us about that? 

 

MR NIXON:   That is the one for Star of the Sea and no, I remember 

contacting the Council once about that as well and we basically both 

came up a blank.  What I did do though, was I checked on Quickmap to 35 

see if her name came up on any of the properties around the school, 

sorry, the name of the trust and it didn’t. 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you, if that is the best you can do at the 40 

moment.  I do have some final questions for you about the consultation 

concept and I would like to bounce off with your paragraph 63 in 

appendix 2, page 12, while you find it, you agree with consultation 

with neighbours is good practice? 

 45 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I do. 
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MR DAYSH:   That is your position? 

 

MR NIXON:   The extent of consultation obviously depending on the nature 

and issue that you are dealing with. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Your real concern with the consultation condition, as I read it, 

is that it provides a precedent that is not required for resource consents 

or for other schools, in a general sense? 

 10 

MR NIXON:   That is one of them, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The other matters have been covered. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, well can I have a look, can I take you to the condition that 15 

is being proposed which – two conditions I think and where I found 

them is on the second to last page of the joint memorandum, page 18, 

number three and four and they are set out in blue.  So those are 

conditions we have in front of us. 

 20 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I have got them here. 

 

MR DAYSH:   As proposed by the City Council, but not agreed to by the 

Minister, is that correct? 

 25 

MR NIXON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Firstly, is it your understanding that the City Council would 

like this condition to be imposed on each of the SIS designations? 

 30 

MR NIXON:   It wants it imposed on five of them. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Five of them, okay, we could not see it. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, you have to go through it, you will find there is five when 35 

you get to the end. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, well perhaps could we bring one of them up on the 

screen please? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Page three, if we do not have it, if it is relatively short, do 

you have a copy of it in front of you, Mr Nixon? 

 

MR NIXON:   I do, I have a copy, it just under five of them and it is the same 

condition. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps go to page three. 

 

MR NIXON:   That is fine, page three.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that the page you wanted? 5 

 

MR NIXON:   That is right, yes, I have got it here. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So there is two condition there.  Your first concern about the 

practical steps to consult rather than, do you see any benefit in that 10 

wording other than an actual requirement to consult; do those words 

actually make you feel any more comfortable with the proposition? 

 

MR NIXON:   Well I guess the issue that immediately leaps out at me with that 

one, is that at some point we have got to go back to the Council and say 15 

something to them, obviously they would expect that, is we have to 

outline what those practical steps are or what the Minister or the 

requiring authority thought those practical steps are and that might 

become an issue or a debate in itself. 

 20 

 Maybe you could send out plans, do you have to call a public meeting, 

so there could be various arguments about that might mean.  That 

makes me nervous I would have to say, that is by a further good 

practice approach rather than a mandated approach. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Do you read that essentially as a mandated approach to consult 

the way that is - - -  

 

MR NIXON:   I think if that wording is adopted the Council would be entitled 

to take the view, “Well okay, what were those practical steps”.  They 30 

would want evidence and what would that constitute? 

 

MR DAYSH:   So your strong preference would be that should be not included 

that condition three? 

 35 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, coming to the second condition, this is around 

detailing what might have been done based on consultation if it had 

occurred, have you thought about any other wording yourself that 40 

might be more appropriate or have you turned your mind to that? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, we have, the issue of looking at consultation as possible 

condition first come up at mediation.  It was suggested by the Council 

and we did – when I say “we” I spoke to various schools and I spoke to 45 

a legal advisor and we talked about it and gave it some consideration, 
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so we did not just dismiss it out of hand – but having said that, the 

more I looked at it, and particularly when I started looking at what a lot 

of the submissions have said, I started feeling more and more uneasy 

about having a condition of that nature. 

 5 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 So the submission process, for better or for worse, certainly drew in a 

sort of, you know, have a general complaint about all sorts of things the 

school is doing that you might not like and the trouble with, and the 10 

Council finds this itself, is where you have got a non compliance 

relating to a particular thing like a recession plane, it can be very 

difficult to explain to a member of the public, “Well look I am sorry, 

we are only here to talk about the recession plane, I know you have 

concerns about parking”, and that person is sent off in a bit of a huff 15 

and they sort of feel that they have not been listened to? 

 

 And that bothers me; that is one of the things that concerns me about an 

approach like this. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so I think we have already heard that the fourth schedule 

of the Act when you are putting an application together and the AE that 

you are required to record any consultation that has been done and the 

outcomes of the consultation along those lines as a paraphrase. 

 25 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I do not think consultation is mandatory but, yes, you 

would normally do that and of course the degree of consultation will 

vary wildly based on what is actually being proposed.  Now, in the case 

of St Francis of Assisi for example, it was virtually a new school, it is 

the only example of a Catholic diocese school like that.   30 

 

 For many of the others there might be, well we have got a block of 

1950s classrooms, we are going to bowl them over, I am going to 

replace the 300 square metre block of 10 classrooms with a 400 square 

metre block of 10 classrooms, that kind of thing is going to be far more 35 

common. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So really horses for courses what you might do is a matter of 

good practice, is that the way you see it? 

 40 

MR NIXON:   Yes, very much so. 

 

MR DAYSH:   St Francis of Assisi’s is that the one where Mr Nolan talked 

about there was quite a lot of consultation with neighbours? 

 45 
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MR NIXON:   Correct, because St Paul’s School was red zone and had to be 

closed down; so it was a very, very difficult process of getting the two 

schools combined onto a single site in a large school so it was one out 

of the box really. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Would you be as concerned if it was mirrored the type of four 

schedule report on consultation you have done, and the outcomes type 

condition? 

 

MR NIXON:   I still have a fundamental problem with singling out five schools 10 

and having a consultation condition on them, but that is part of my 

general argument which may or may not be accepted that it is a like-

for-like situation.  If I park that for a moment, it would depend very 

much on what the wording actually required. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   Right, but to test that a little bit further; is it right that the 

reason that this five schools have this suggested condition on it because 

they do have particular effects that perhaps are site specific and might 

need some consultation? 

 20 

MR NIXON:   I am not at all comfortable with the suggestion those five are 

actually that represented, Middleton Grange probably is and Hillview 

because they are bigger schools and I can sort of understand how they 

might have got into that situation.  I imagine a few state schools would 

too either, if they were exposed to the same situation.   25 

 

 If you look at one like Christchurch Adventist, the only submissions 

from a so called neighbour were for something which did not actually 

bound the designation at all and who I think was quite alarmed by the 

Council’s notice that went out, I think it was quite alarming to many 30 

submitters.  And then you have got a school like St Mark’s which is on 

quite a cramped site and it had no submissions at all, and it is not 

suggested to be subject to a consultation condition so this is the danger 

with cherry picking, doing this sort of thing. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   All right, putting that aside and really bouncing off discussion 

that his Honour had earlier on about this type of, we should perhaps 

discuss some different ideas with the planning witnesses and I have 

done a bit of doodling myself along the lines that we talked about and 

how would I get that on, would I read it into the record or will I 40 

produce it, or come back? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just mindful of the time as well.  You can certainly 

put a question to the witness on what is in your mind, bearing in mind 

the evidence you rely on from the witness. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Okay, so if I read out some successive wording and get you to 

comment on that, that builds on the second condition.  What would you 

think of a condition that said “the outline planner work shall detail any 

consultation that has been undertaken and how any matters were raised 

in this discussions have been taken into” – look sorry, I will start again 5 

I have missed the key part so I will start again.   

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 “The Outline Plan of Work shall detail any engagement with potential 10 

affected parties that has been undertaken, and how any matters raised in 

these discussions have been taken into consideration in finalising the 

design and layout of the proposed works”.   

 

MR NIXON:   I think Gemma raised a similar one, it would be better than what 15 

has been put, that is probably the best I could say.  So I am still not in 

favour of such a condition, but certainly I accept that that would be 

better.   

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  That is all I have thank you, sir.   20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Daysh.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   I will try to be brief, sir.  Thank you.  Question number one, why 

the five schools as opposed to the rest? 25 

 

MR NIXON:   Probably a question best directed – because Ms Dixon I believe 

might be able to cover that because the Council has gone away and 

worked those out.  I assume it is probably a combination of two things - 

one the number of submissions that were received on particular schools 30 

and, two, the perceived size of the school grounds.  I think that is 

probably it, and she will be able to confirm that. 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay.  If you go to that same document, Emmanuel Christian 

School has a condition regarding recession plane, agreed to by Council 35 

and by the Ministry? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes.   

 

MR NEILL:   Whereas a similar condition in St Thomas’s of Canterbury 40 

College is objected to, why? 

 

MR NIXON:   I think the situation with Emmanuel, I am not particular keen on 

the condition with Emmanuel but be that it may, it is a little bit – 

probably of all the school it is probably the closest to being what you 45 

would call a “new” school because it is in a greenfield environment, 
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and it is one of those schools that will be growing, it is currently 

surrounded by rural land which will be developed for residential in the 

future.  So I do not know how strong an argument it is, but I treat it as 

being more like a new school and therefore it may be more acceptable 

to have that kind of condition.  Other than that, I could not come up 5 

with any convincing reason as to why. 

 

MR NEILL:   And finally, Hillview Christian School, there are a number of 

properties that have been agreed to with common boundary and yet for 

some unknown reason, sort of the back property of one and the back 10 

property of another have been excluded.   

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I can explain that.  There are four contiguous neighbours 

along the northern side of what is called the Junior side, or eastern side. 

 15 

MR NEILL:   St Martins Road?  

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, that is correct, and they are still a party to the hearing 

regarding a noise issue, and there are two other submitters.  Now, one 

was way over on the blatantly opposite corner of the Junior site, 20 

virtually up in the very corner of the playground area.  I think I can 

safely say there is no prospect of any building being erected there 

which would be likely to affect that person, so I do not see the need for 

a condition. 

 25 

 The other one is a neighbour who adjoins the western or Senior site, 

and her property backs on to the western end of the playground area, 

and I have taken the school’s assurance that there is no prospect 

whatsoever that they will be putting buildings anywhere near there 

either.   30 

 

 Bearing in mind the schools, in fact this is the character or all schools, 

they do not scatter their buildings all over their site, they tend to have a 

large playground area, which they keep free, and they tend to 

concentrate their buildings in one part of the site. 35 

 

 Now, I cannot say to you it is impossible that a building would never 

be put there, but I think it is getting to the point where it is almost 

fanciful that there would be one put there, so I do not see a need for a 

condition on those two additional submitters properties.   40 

 

MR NEILL:   Well I presume you are referring to Prossers and Gamblins Road 

properties - - - 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes 45 
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MR NEILL:   - - - but with regard to the St Martins Road, there is 86, 88, 90 

and 92A? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR NEILL:  But you have deleted 1/96A and you have deleted 2/92A? 

 

MR NIXON:   Again the Council will be able to confirm this.  One of those 

92A properties is a back section of St Martins Road, one of those 

parties is a submitter, the other one is not.  The Council have requested 10 

that the property of the other neighbour who is not a submitter and I 

think one or two further down, also be subject to a recession plane 

standard.   

 

 Generally I am uncomfortable about agreeing further recessions plane 15 

standards on properties who are not submitters, because of what I see 

as a potential slippery slope argument. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 20 

 I couldn’t say that the sky would fall in if the recession plane extended 

over those properties, but I am just uncomfortable about extending it 

over properties of people who are not submitters.   

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you Mr Nixon.  Most of my questions have been 

covered in answers already, thank you.  I just want to ask you about 30 

one topic.  In your evidence you talk about education activities in the 

way that is defined in the plan, and the wide range of activities that are 

commonly undertaken on school sites, and that would come within the 

definition of education activities.   

 35 

 But you do not address in your evidence that activities that might come 

within the designated purpose for these sites, if they are designated, 

which is for education purposes.  And I am interested, and do you 

accept then that those two definitions or prescriptions are different and 

apply in different circumstances? 40 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I do.  I had considered that some time ago.  There may be 

activities that happen on school sites that are not covered by 

designation, that possibility certainly exists. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So you haven’t really – I am just concerned that your 

evidence sort of blurs that a little bit, in the way you have expressed it, 

but you, you do accept that – I mean it is not for us to determine, but it 

could be that some of the broad activities that come within the 

definition of education activities in the Plan might not be found to be 5 

within the education’s purposes designation and may not be able to be 

undertaken under 176 by the requiring authority? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes I do.  The first point, I think your criticism is actually a fair 

one, because I think there is probably is an element of blurring on my 10 

part there.  Yes, there could be circumstances where particular 

activities if they are not either covered by the designation or are a 

permitted activity, although the permitted activity - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I am trying to distinguish that, that a permitted is to do 15 

with the zone. 

 

MR NIXON:   In which case they are caught within any of the provisions 

based on that zone.   

 20 

MS DAWSON:   So although in some circumstances a school, a State 

Integrated School, may choose to undertake a development as a 

permitted activity in terms of the zone, that wouldn’t be undertaken 

under the designation.  I mean they are two separate - - - 

 25 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I understand.   

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean, do you accept that they are two separate processes 

that have their own parts of the Act and their own legal packing around 

them? 30 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if it is possible that there are some activities that might not 

fall to be undertaken by the requiring authority under the education 35 

purposes designation, can you confirm for us that those activities when 

undertaken under the zoning would have some standards that they 

would need to meet. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes.   40 

 

MS DAWSON:   And do those standards extend to the noise standards in 

chapter – because I am not very familiar about that, do they extend to 

the noise standards in Chapter 6 of the Proposed Plan? 

 45 

MR NIXON:   Yes, potentially, yes.   
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MS DAWSON:   So potentially the noise standards in Chapter 6, why only 

potentially? 

 

MR NIXON:   The only reason I am a bit resistant here, is I would have to look 5 

at – I haven’t got it in front of me, I would have to look at the list of 

activities and see what – well way more than that actually, I would 

need to have an understanding of what was happening on a school site, 

look at the list of permitted activities, see if it fell within it or not, and if 

it didn’t then it seems certainly clear to me that that would not be 10 

covered by the designation and would be bound by rules.   

 

MS DAWSON:   And if they are bound by the rules, all I am asking is – there 

is two things I am interested in, because they have been raised by 

submitters, is whether the noise standards in chapter six and the traffic 15 

standards in whatever chapter that is, in parking and access and the 

high traffic generator and all those things that are in those separate 

chapters, could they end up being applied as controls over those 

activities that do not fall within the designated purpose? 

 20 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I think as a matter of law that must be correct.   

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so some of the matters that, some of the submitters 25 

appear to be concerned about, may or may not fall within the 

designated purpose and actually could end up having some noise or 

traffic or other controls over them. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, they could. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, yes, thank you, I just wanted that clarified.  Thank 

you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually just going from that point, Mr Nixon, if you 35 

could go to your rebuttal statement on page 13, and I think, probably on 

the same theme, at your paragraph 67 in regard to Hillview Christian 

School. 

 

 So there is an example of your reference to the Plan noise standards.  40 

So my only question for you in regard to that and follow up to Ms 

Dawson is, you know how you refer there to “school activities” in that 

sentence, I suppose the more accurate wording of that would be the 

wording of the designation, would it not, in other words “education 

purposes”; in other words, if something falls beyond the parameters of 45 

the designation education purposes, but is undertaken on the school 
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site, but not under the auspicious of the designation, then the rules 

apply and the - - -  

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - Plan noise standards apply? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, sir they would. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As you are describing in that sentence. 10 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes sir, they would. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And if it is school purposes and this is 

something – education purposes – come back to the designation and 15 

school activities, I have just got a minor question about this, is it your 

understanding that section 16 of the Act would apply in terms of the 

duty to avoid unreasonable noise, for instance to a board of trustees 

conducting a fair on a Sunday afternoon or something? 

 20 

MR NIXON:   I do not think there are any limitations on section 16 

application, so the answer probably yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I do not want to test you on the law, it might be 

something, I might ask for some help from counsel on, but it is just a, 25 

as I understand it, as I read the Act there are some areas where the 

Crown is exempt from section 16, but as I read the exemptions in 

section 4 of the Act it would appear to me anyway that an entity in the 

nature of a board of trustees conducting activities on the site would not 

be exempt, but I will leave that for submissions, to think about. 30 

 

 Thanks very much, and just a matter of clarification for Mr Lanning's 

questions, as I understand your theory it is this, you do not take issue 

with the question of effects being managed - - -  

 35 

MR NIXON:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - or subject to part 2.  What you are saying is, that you 

consider the most appropriate means of doing that, is primarily the 

Outline Plan? 40 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, any questions arising, Mr Prebble? 

 45 

MR PREBBLE:   No, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Now I hate to tell everyone we are 

hugely behind time at the moment, in terms of probably an unrealistic 

timetable, but I am mindful that people are sitting there and have been 

for a while, Ms Marks I am particularly mindful of your clients and 5 

they have been sitting all morning. 

 

 If you wanted have your clients take leave, they can feel free to do that, 

I think the reality is we got to get through the Council evidence before 

we get to your clients. 10 

 

MS MARKS:   Yes.  Sir, there has been no application to cross-examine Ms 

Calman, and on that basis I was going to ask if the Panel had no 

questions perhaps she does not need to be called? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The only question I – I will just check with my Panel 

members on that. 

 

MS MARKS:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Marks, just checking that and I think it is right, I do 

not think I need to ask my other Panel members. 

 

 The evidence that we are receiving from submitters is important to us, 

it is contextual evidence, it is about the local environment and so forth, 25 

so from our point of view it is important, and so - - -  

 

MS MARKS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - we would want the evidence in. 30 

 

 I wonder whether there is a time though that we can arrange – one of 

the Panel members has a commitment at 4 o'clock, and it is obviously 

testing that at the moment as to whether in fact that will be a problem, 

but I could allow for your client for instance to come back at an agreed 35 

time if there are other things they want to do for a while. 

 

MS MARKS:   I will just check with her whether or not she has got any 

commitments today. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and we can just have her in at the relevant time – the 

alternative is to have her through now before the Council evidence. 

 

MS MARKS:   Perhaps now then, sir. 

 45 

MR LANNING:   I was going to suggest that, sir, yes, that is fine with me. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well let’s do that and then we will probably – I 

am not sure whether we take an early lunch and then come back and 

possibly before 1.30 and finish up with others, but let’s see how we go, 

so we will call your witness now thank you, Ms Marks. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.35 pm] 

 

MS MARKS:   Yes, sir, call Ms Calman. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms Marks, you are free to present the submissions 

at some stage, just presume you have got so much - - -  

 

MS MARKS:   Later. 

 15 

MR……….:   Yes, later on. 
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<RANUI CLAIR CALMAN, affirmed [12.36 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS MARKS [12.36 pm] 

 

MS MARKS:   Can you confirm that your full name is Ranui Clair Calman? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MS MARKS:   That you own a property located at 86 St Martins Road? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes. 

 10 

MS MARKS:   That you prepared a statement of evidence dated 25 November 

2015? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MS MARKS:   Do you have any corrections to make? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes, just on paragraph 2, at the end of paragraph 2, “We have 

actually lived in the property since January 2014”. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Time flies. 

 

MS MARKS:   And with that correction can you confirm that your statement is 

true and correct to the best of your ability? 

 25 

MS CALMAN:   Yes. 

 

MS MARKS:   Thank you, if you just present a short summary and answer any 

questions from the Panel. 

 30 

MS CALMAN:   On 24 July 2015, the Christchurch City Council sent letters to 

us advising that we were directly affected by the Ministry of 

Educations proposed designation for Hillview Christian School.  No 

consultation was undertaken on that NOR. 

 35 

 Our submissions sought conditions on the NOR addressing built form, 

noise and parking.  We did attend a mediation and there were recession 

planes and minimum building setback conditions which were discussed 

at the meeting, but I just like to note that we have not seen a copy of 

any signed agreement and we have not – well we have not signed 40 

anything, we have not seen anything to sign. 

 

 The current noise is generally as stated in the NOR, so it is generally 

the children’s activities during the day, and when children are leaving 

and arriving from school.  Obviously there is also noise generation 45 

from other school events, such as school sports and construction noise, 
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there is a new gymnasium being completed at the moment.  So we hear 

construction noise and also children playing in the school grounds 

during weekends. 

 

 We have a current issue which has been going on for the last few 5 

months in relation to a rubbish truck which wakes us up on a regular 

basis, as early as 3.50 am, it picks up, empties a skit and drops it back 

down and we also hear the truck beeping as it reverses.  We have 

complained to the school on a number of occasions but it has not seem 

to have entirely been resolved, although the last – this week it was at 10 

5.40 am, so slightly better. 

 

 My concern and the concern of my neighbours is, in relation to the 

noise that we are currently experiencing but also in the future in 

relation to noise in the mornings, evenings and the weekends that is 15 

inconsistent with the residential environment. 

 

 And the concern is the, the lack of control on the levels of that noise 

that could occur from potential future development of the school site 

and future use of the school land and buildings for other purposes, for 20 

example when they rent out their facilities that will have resulting 

increases in effects such as noise and traffic. 

 

 As I said there is a new gym, and we do not know what effects there 

will be in terms of the noise from that, and do not know whether the 25 

school intends to hire out the building, but there will inevitably be an 

increase in noise from people and cars. 

 

 Our neighbourhood is relatively quiet and I would not want to see a 

material increase in noise levels in hours during which noise is 30 

generated within the school site. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

 The NOR states that noise levels are not expected to change beyond 35 

existing noise levels.  In my view there should be no problem with 

putting a condition in place to protect us from additional noise above 

the existing levels, if in the future such things were to change. 

 

 Even if there are no plans for changes now, we have seen that a lot can 40 

change over time.  This school, I understand had 84 students in 1995 

and 20 years later it now has 520.  We request a noise condition be 

imposed which requires the avoidance or mitigation of noise effects on 

residential neighbours.  Thank you. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh, any questions? 
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MR DAYSH:   Yes, Ms Calman, just one.  You have heard me ask questions of 

Mr Nixon this morning about the joint memorandum.  You have not 

seen that? 

 5 

MS CALMAN:   Yes, I can only speak for myself and the other submitters, the 

Hillview Christian School, the four of us that Ms Marks is representing; 

we have not seen anything at all, just by requesting such. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So that has been filed with us today and I presume there is a 10 

copy. 

 

MS CALMAN:   I do not think we received it today, sir. 

 

MS MARKS:   Sir, I can clarify that we were not served with that.  I have seen 15 

a copy this morning after arriving here but we were not served with that 

memorandum and it does not reflect the conditions we understood were 

agreed at mediation.  There was never particular wording circulated 

although we did expect it to be.  I have prepared a memorandum setting 

out what we have agreed and I can discuss that later if you would like. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, that is the only question I had, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill? 

 25 

MR NEILL:   I am very aware you have not seen the memorandum but in it it 

specifically refers to the recession plane as it relates to your property 

and there are some other issues relating to your property and your next 

door neighbour in number 90 as well.  But 92A and 2/92A are objected 

to by the Crown, the Ministry of Education.  Can you throw any light 30 

as to why they would not? 

 

MS CALMAN:   I would need to check, sorry the exact address of the 

neighbour that we - - - 

 35 

MR NEILL:   I think 92A is up the driveway. 

 

MS CALMAN:   I have a feeling that the one Mrs Smith, who is actually the 

most directly affected by - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, sorry, you are giving evidence on your own behalf 

as I understand. 

 

MS CALMAN:   I am sorry. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, skip that thanks. 
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MS CALMAN:   I thought her address was 2/92A but I would need to check 

that. 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay, now that you have had the opportunity just to read that in 5 

red that came up, it relates to recession plane and internal boundary 

setbacks.  It does not relate to noise. 

 

MS CALMAN:   No. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   Does that give you some comfort? 

 

MS CALMAN:   I understood that the conditions were relating to the recession 

planes and the internal boundary setback, but my understanding was 

that they reflected the – I do not remember anything about the three 15 

metre standard setback. 

 

MR NEILL:   With regard to two things, the building of the gymnasium, that 

resource consent was in place before you purchased your property? 

 20 

MS CALMAN:   I think it would have been, yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   And so it is difficult at this point to “oppose” that particular 

building.  In regard to noise – and I appreciate the dump truck issue – 

but children noise, how do you change that habit, other than fencing of 25 

a nature that we have referred to earlier? 

 

MS CALMAN:   We do not have any problems with the children’s’ noise. 

 

MR NEILL:   Right.  So the noise you are referring to is what noise? 30 

 

MS CALMAN:   Possible future noise from the use of buildings in the future, 

perhaps there could be an auditorium built which could be rented out 

which would have additional traffic noise and noise during the 

evenings. 35 

 

MR NEILL:   But the gymnasium particularly, that is some distance from your 

house? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes. 40 

 

MR NEILL:   So that is not your concern, it is a potential auditorium in the 

area that might have included houses close to you that are still owned 

by individuals? 

 45 

  [12.45 pm] 
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MS CALMAN:   Yes, or on our boundary of the school area that is already 

owned by the school currently. 

 

MR NEILL:   As I understand it you would back onto what is called the 5 

administration block? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes and a car park. 

 

MR NEILL:   And a car park.  No, thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Calman.  So just looking at this photograph 

here, just to make sure, I know you have attached a photograph to your 15 

evidence as well, so where it says 86 St Martins Road, is that your 

property? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes, that is right. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   And I know you are just giving evidence from yourself, but 

factually are the other neighbours in that vicinity as well that are 

represented alongside with you? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes, as shown there, 86, 88, 90 - - -  25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Going where the cursor now is, yes. 

 

MS CALMAN:   - - - yes, 90 and then if you go to 92A, now that is a cross-

lease property as I understand it although it does not show /1 and /2, 30 

one of those is /1 and one is /2.  I think Mrs Smith is /2. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that long building there where the cursor is, is two units? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes, that is two separate properties. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And that quadrant I suppose of the school site 

contains a mixture of classrooms and administration buildings, is that 

correct? 

 40 

MS CALMAN:   The ones adjacent to 92A are classrooms as I understand it 

and behind her is the swimming pool. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, you can see it. 

 45 
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MS CALMAN:   That is the swimming pool, yes, and a caretaker’s shed I 

think. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And where is the administration area that is near your 

property? 5 

 

MS CALMAN:   With a grey roof. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Large grey roof? 

 10 

MS CALMAN:   Yes, that one there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, and is the gymnasium fronting onto Wilsons Road? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes it is, I think probably where those houses, 138 to 148, 15 

around there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is the new building? 

 

MS CALMAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So just in terms of any ongoing dialogue as neighbours of the 

school, are there any regular processes or communication or dialogue 

between the school and you as neighbours? 

 25 

MS CALMAN:   We have not had anything since we have arrived. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right so there is nothing sort of regularly in place? 

 

MS CALMAN:   No. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   No.  All right, thank you very much. 

 

MS CALMAN:   Thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Calman, thank you very much.  One matter I just 

wanted to have clarified around the theory of your evidence is that you 

do speak in the first person throughout your evidence as “your” 

evidence, in other words it is your own concern. 

 40 

MS CALMAN:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The cover sheet to your evidence refers to it as being on 

behalf of different people, but I understand that to be that your counsel 

here represents everyone, is that right and you are giving evidence on 45 

your own behalf? 
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MS CALMAN:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  Now any questions arising, 

Ms Marks? 5 

 

MS MARKS:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and thank you very much for coming along and 

braving the process.  It does help us and it does take a bit of courage, 10 

but thank you. 

 

MS MARKS:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.48 pm] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think we are back to if we were to think about the lunch 

adjournment at 1.00.  Go back to Mr Lanning – Mr Lanning, do you 

want to present your submissions at this point? 

 20 

MR LANNING:   Well I am in your hands, sir, whatever is most efficient for 

you.  I have prepared a summary.  I am happy to go through my legal 

submissions, but I have also produced a summary as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I think if you just speak to your summary.  We have 25 

read them. 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have had the chance to read them overnight so you do not 30 

need to go through them chapter and verse, we generally understand the 

theory of obvious points that are coming out of questioning and it is 

excellent that the parties have actually worked – and thank you too, as 

well as Mr Prebble for working hard towards developing that joint 

memorandum between the Council and the Minister.  That helps us a 35 

lot. 

 

MR LANNING:   I have got some hard copies if people need them.  So thank 

you, sir, so obviously some simple stuff but the Minister seeks new 

designations for its state integrated schools.  The schools are existing 40 

facilities but the proposed designations must be considered as new 

designations under section 171 of the Act.   

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 45 
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 The Council is participating in this process in two capacities; one as a 

submitter on some of the notices of requirement and, secondly, as the 

territorial authority that will be responsible for administering the 

proposed designations and I think importantly, in terms of being the 

territorial authority, through the outline plan process because that is 5 

obviously going to be the focus or focus of the Panel’s consideration in 

this hearing as to whether that is the appropriate way to manage the 

effects. 

 

 The Minister has agreed to conditions and modifications that 10 

adequately address the Council’s submission and some of the matters 

raised by other submitters.  The remaining issues relates to whether 

further conditions are required to address the concerns raised by the 

submitters and the concerns primarily relate to the potential effects of 

buildings on the neighbouring properties.  The underlying Special 15 

Purpose School zone is reasonably permissive.  The proposed 

designation will add to and not limit what is authorised by the zone 

provisions.   

 

 The Minister’s approach is to generally resist conditions and rely on the 20 

outline plan of works process under section 176A of the Act.  The key 

reason appears to be that because the existing state schools operate in 

this way, the SISs should be treated the same way.  Accordingly the 

Minister argues that it is sufficient to manage any adverse effects 

through the outline plan of works process because the state schools 25 

operate in this way.   

 

 The Council acknowledges the benefits for the Minister of having a 

consistent approach to the way that schools are managed and this is 

evidenced by the Council’s proposed School zoning for all schools.  30 

However, while the interests of the Minister are important, the 

Council’s view is that the approach taken by the Minister is not 

appropriate because of three things.   

 

 First, the state school designations have been part of the Christchurch 35 

planning regime for a long time whereas the State Integrated Schools 

have been managed under district plan controls  Secondly, conditions 

on designations including new designations for existing schools is not 

novel and thirdly, and perhaps most importantly, the Panel must 

consider the designations in accordance with section 171.  In particular 40 

the Panel must consider the effects on the environment of allowing the 

requirement and this in turn requires an adequate understanding of two 

things, first the receiving environments and, secondly, the nature and 

scope of the effects that could be generated by the designations. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Does it?  Does it not just need us to understand that the 

mechanism for addressing those matters is the most appropriate, using 

the language of 171 of course rather than the language of section 32 but 

in a broad sense paraphrasing it? 

 5 

 Are we not in the position where we look at this at a plan development 

stage and ask ourselves the question, which is the most appropriate?  If 

it is the designation, is the outline plan process the appropriate means 

for addressing the effects including part 2 matters, bearing in mind that 

there are appeals including in which the Environment Court has a 10 

power to determine matters in relation to part 2 matters?   

 

 So if that is the mechanism, isn’t that the question, whether the 

mechanism is the right one for the effects in part 2 rather than 

understanding all those detailed effects at this stage, which we cannot 15 

possibly do? 

 

MR LANNING:   To an extent I agree with you, sir.  But in order to determine 

whether the outline plan of works, or relying heavily on the outline 

plan of works, is the appropriate method to manage effects, then I think 20 

or in my submission the Panel needs an adequate understanding of 

what the nature and scale of the effects that could be generated are. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In the same way as we might need to have that 

understanding when we develop permitted activities and other things in 25 

rules, is that similar to that? 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, in my submission, sir - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In other words we do not know what the proposal is, we 30 

do not know it for a permitted activity, we just know at a broad level 

looking ahead enough to know that we can set controls and have a 

management of this in due course by the appropriate body, do you 

agree with that? 

 35 

MR LANNING:   Yes, I would agree with that, sir, and I think or in my 

submission, sir, the focus of this hearing has become whether that 

outline plan of works process is adequate to deal with the effects that 

could be expected from these designations. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, bearing in mind the conditions of designation can 

also be part of the mix? 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, that is correct, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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MR LANNING:   Now, in this case the receiving environments are generally 

high amenity residential areas.  Not surprisingly the Minister is seeking 

a high degree of flexibility as to what developments might happen on 

each State Integrated site in the future.  The nature and scope of the 5 

effects that could be authorised by the designations is unclear.   

 

 In that context it is submitted that the Panel should adopt a reasonably 

cautious approach before accepting that the Minister’s proposed 

approach, that is heavy reliance or in some cases sole reliance on the 10 

outline plan of works, will adequately manage the potential adverse 

effects, which I think has just repeated what I have just said to you, sir, 

before. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   The Council’s evidence is that the concerns raised by the 

submitters could be addressed by recession plane and setback 20 

conditions on those designations that are subject to the submissions 

and/or conditions requiring consultation with directly affected 

neighbours in the course of preparing the outline plan of works.   

 

 Now the latter conditions, this is the consultation requirement, could be 25 

drafted so as to not fetter the outline plan of works process, and in my 

submission that is critical, but it would ensure that informed decisions 

could be made by the Minister and the Council during that process 

which is particularly important in my submission given the sole 

reliance on that outline of plan of works process and, in my submission, 30 

given that there has been no prior consultation with the neighbours 

before these notices of requirement are notified as well. 

 

 So in my submission, sir, the reason why this consultation mechanism 

has been suggested at this stage is to allow the flexibility the Minister 35 

wishes to have but also acknowledging the uncertainty of what might 

be generated or what might be proposed within the designations and 

what those effects might be, so it is trying to address that issue. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And would the Council have a position on whether or not 40 

the condition should be framed, on the basis that the Minister or Boards 

of Trustees could be taken to the High Court on a question on whether 

they breached a duty to consult? 

 

MR LANNING:   That would definitely be a concern that we would want to 45 

avoid the risk of that happening. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So the question of how it is expressed in mandatory, or 

otherwise language, is relevant to that, isn’t it? 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

MR LANNING:   And if I could just add to that, sir, in my experience and in 

particularly recently acting for requiring authorities where we have 10 

proposed these conditions, the conditions very much are around 

ensuring that the requiring authority knows when it has complied with 

the condition, for example providing an outline plan of works to 

particular people, giving them 10 days or whatever to respond and if 

there is no response that is the end of the obligation. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just thinking out loud, I am wondering about that and I 

might as wonder out loud because we are trying to find solutions as we 

go through these processes to things, as to whether some mechanism by 

which, for instance an outline plan could be put in draft ahead of the 20 

actual formalised submission, given the Council has got a 20 working 

day period to turn it around to allow some process at least for the 

Council to test with the community some issues before they go to a 

formal outline plan but I am not sure.  That is a matter for parties to tell 

us about and what they think. 25 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, well, I have nothing else to add to that, sir.  I can 

address the status of the agreement from mediation if that is useful at 

this stage.  There was a handwritten agreement, I have a copy here, it 

was not signed by a number of parties at the mediation because they 30 

had to leave early and things like that, so I can provide that.  My 

understanding was that the intention of my friend was to have that 

typed up and circulated, I am not sure what happened there, but in any 

event the evidence process overtook - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It looks like an ancient piece of script.   

 

MR LANNING:   Overtook that process and my understanding is that because 

that agreement merely refers to recession plane conditions and things 

like that, there was not a lot of detail agreed at that time, I think 40 

everybody got a little bit worn out by it.   

 

 My understanding is that the conditions that have been proposed in the 

track change version, as far as the Council is concerned, reflect what 

was agreed and what was discussed at the mediation and we have given 45 
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people the ability through the evidence exchange process to comment 

on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we will have a look at that over lunch.  All right, we 

will take the lunch adjournment now.  My inclination, if counsel is 5 

okay with this, is to come back at 1.30, all right, given that we got to 

push on.  Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.59 pm] 

 10 

RESUMED [1.30 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you everyone.  Now Mr Lanning, your witness. 

 

MR LANNING:   Yes, thank you, sir.  I call Ms Amanda Ohs. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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<AMANDA OHS, sworn [1.30 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LANNING [1.31 pm] 

 

MR LANNING:   Good afternoon, is your full name Amanda Emma Ohs? 

 

MS OHS:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LANNING:   Have you produced a statement of evidence for this hearing, 

dated 25 November 2015? 

 

MS OHS:   Yes, I have. 10 

 

MR LANNING:   Do you have the experience and qualifications set out in 

paragraph 1.2 of that evidence? 

 

MS OHS:   Yes. 15 

 

MR LANNING:   Do you have any corrections you have to make? 

 

MS OHS:   No. 

 20 

MR LANNING:   So on that basis do you confirm that your evidence is true 

and correct? 

 

MS OHS:   That is correct. 

 25 

MR LANNING:   Now I understand you have produced a brief overview.  If 

you just read that out and then answer any questions, thank you. 

 

MS OHS:   Okay.  In my evidence I support Council’s submission to add 

conditions to the proposed designation for Middleton Grange School, 30 

namely the designation shall not apply to the alteration, relocation, 

demolition, reconstruction or heritage upgrade works to the group 2 

listed item, which is the former dwelling Middleton, and that no new 

buildings be located within the building control area. 

 35 

 So just for clarification, Council’s submission provided an outline of 

the building control area which is attachment 2 to my evidence.  

Through mediation a reduction in this area was agreed and this is 

shown in attachment 3.  I will just point out the different scale of map 

there as well, so you are aware of that. 40 

 

 I consider the building control area will provide for the retention of 

open space around and views to the listed item and this is supported by 

historical documentation.  And that is really its basis, yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  Thank you.  Do you have any questions, 

Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, apart from a comment there what an amazing looking 

building, so thanks for your evidence, thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   One question.  The concerns that you expressed in your 

evidence-in-chief have now been addressed by agreement in this 10 

agreement reached.  Is that the case? 

 

MS OHS:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you, Ms Ohs. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And nor do I have any and thank you very much for the 

work that has achieved that outcome.  You are free to go. 

 

MS OHS:   Okay, thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.34 pm] 

 

MR LANNING:   Thank you, sir, I will call Ms Glenda Dixon. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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<GLENDA DIXON, sworn [1.34 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LANNING [1.34 pm] 

 

MR LANNING:   Good afternoon, Ms Dixon.  Can you confirm that your full 

name is Glenda Margaret Dixon? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR LANNING:   And can you confirm that you have produced a statement of 

evidence for this hearing, dated 25 November 2015? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   And that you confirm that you have the experience and 

qualifications which are referred to in paragraph 1.1 of that statement 

of evidence? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   Do you have any corrections or amendments you wish to 

make? 20 

 

  [1.35 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   I do have a few, yes.  Shall I list them now? 

 25 

MR LANNING:   Yes, please, list them. 

 

MS DIXON:   Okay, the first correction is on paragraph 4 – I will just make 

sure that you can hear me, sorry – page 4, paragraph 3.5 and it is down 

the bottom of that page delete “J”, it is a repeat.  The second one is on 30 

page 5, there is a clause left out at the end of 3.6, there should be a “D” 

it should say, “recession plane and setback conditions on several 

properties adjoining St Thomas of Canterbury School”. 

 

MR LANNING:   Slow down, ma’am. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Recession plane and setback - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Conditions. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - conditions. 

 

MS DIXON:   “On several properties adjoining St Thomas of Canterbury”, I 

think it is College actually, sorry, paragraph 7.3.4. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   St Thomas of Canterbury - - -  
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MS DIXON:   College. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - College and then the paragraph - - -  

 5 

MS DIXON:   In brackets paragraph 7.3.4. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS DIXON:   The next one is on that same page 5 in paragraph 4.1; the second 10 

sentence should start chapter 21 also lists 31 state integrated schools 

etcetera, so chapter 21.  Next one is page 13, paragraph 5.20 right at the 

top of that page there is a couple of words missed out where the 

building is under 4.5 metres in height so the extra words in height - - -  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and then the word “and” follows? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, page 16, paragraph 7.3 if all permitted activity standards 

were applied, not rules; substitute the word “standards” for the word 

“rules”. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Can I just grab that reference again? 

 

MS DIXON:   Page 16 - - -  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   7.3. 

 

MS DIXON:   - - - paragraph 7.3, should read “if all permitted activity 

standards were applied” - - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS DIXON:   - - - and page 22, paragraph 7.23, third line of that requiring a 15 

metre setback, is still in place for the 9 metres beyond this 6 metres, 

that is for the 9 metres inserted. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   With the 9 metres inserted before beyond? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, that is right, just to make that a bit clearer and last one is 

page 24, paragraph 7.33 right at the bottom of the page submission 40 

number 3965 by the Hussey’s state that their house is located 1.8 

metres from the south western boundary with the school insert the 

words “south western”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 45 
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MS DIXON:   That is all. 

 

MR LANNING:   So with those corrections can you confirm that your 

evidence is true and correct? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LANNING:   Could you please read through your summary and then 

answer any questions? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   Thank you.  I emphasise in my evidence that for the purposes of 

an assessment of environmental effects, the Panel should be 

considering the change between what a school can do as a right under 

the district plan school zone rules and what it would be able to do as a 

right under designation powers.   15 

 

 I note that there is a lack of detail about possible future works at the 

schools and the Notices of Requirement, so in order to provide some 

context about what might occur in the future, in my section 5 I have 

provided some further information from Council records on recent 20 

developments and resource consent applications at the schools which 

are the subject of submissions. 

 

 In the process of doing this, and in undertaking site visits to these 

schools, I developed a view that state integrated school sites were 25 

generally smaller than state school sites which in itself appeared to be a 

factor leading to schools seeking to intrude internal boundary setbacks 

or recession planes by building close to their boundaries with 

residential neighbours or having difficulty meeting parking 

requirements. 30 

 

 Since my evidence was filed I have done some further research and 

have confirmed this view by establishing that the average site size of a 

state school in Christchurch is 3.36 hectares, whereas the average site 

size of a State Integrated School is only 2.49 hectares.   35 

 

  [1.40 pm] 

 

 While school rolls at State Integrated Schools are also likely to be 

smaller on average, this is not always the case. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who did that calculation you have just referred to? 

 

MS DIXON:   I did, based on my records of details of schools from writing the 

School Zone in the Proposed District Plan Review. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So that was your information base? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Carry on. 5 

 

MS DIXON:   While school rolls at State Integrated Schools are also likely to 

be smaller on average, this is not always the case, and there are some 

notable examples of State Integrated Schools which have had 

significant increases in their rolls in recent years, e.g. Middleton 10 

Grange and Hillview Christian schools, or have sites which are 

relatively congested by buildings. 

 

 This is not a matter of coverage across the whole site but of grouping of 

buildings on part of the site to leave adequate space for playing fields.   15 

 

 Congestion of buildings seems to be worse on long narrow sites, e.g.   

the main site at St Thomas of Canterbury College and at Mairehau 

Catholic Primary, and again this appears to lead to the potential for 

adverse effects on those neighbours.  20 

 

 I note in my evidence that there is an increasing public expectation that 

the adverse effects of public works should be adequately managed and 

this has led to a general trend towards more conditions on designations.   

 25 

 The Ministry of Education has now agreed to some conditions on some 

State Integrated Schools along certain parts of their boundaries where 

submitters have raised the possibility of adverse effects.  These 

conditions are now shown in red type on the draft schedule of 

designations that you will have received in the memo. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and thank you for your contribution to that. 

 

MS DIXON:   However, this is far from an ideal way of assessing potential 

environmental effects and there are other properties which are 35 

indistinguishable from these in resource management terms.   

 

 I am not suggesting that State Integrated Schools should have all school 

zone rules applied to them as conditions on their designations, but I 

have suggested some additional properties which could be added into 40 

their agreed conditions, which are usually recession plane conditions, 

should the Panel be minded to do so.   

 

 These extra properties are listed in green type in the draft schedule of 

designations.  The extra properties are generally on the south side of 45 
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schools where school buildings are close to boundaries and there 

appears to be a prospect of redevelopment near those boundaries.   

 

 Some of those properties are the subject of submissions, as we have 

heard, and some are not.  In one case, that is St Thomas of Canterbury 5 

College, I have suggested new conditions not offered at all by the 

Ministry of Education, and there is one submission there that gives 

scope for that.   

 

 Finally, I have suggested consultation conditions on five schools, and 10 

these are shown in blue on the draft schedule of designations.  The 

conditions do not fetter the discretion of the requiring authority to use 

the designation and Outline Plan process as normal, but they would 

require the requiring authority to seek comment from those adjoining 

owners who could be affected by particular development proposals and 15 

to convey those comments to Council. 

 

 I note that the Notices of Requirement record, as we have heard already 

today, that the Ministry of Education has not undertaken any 

consultation on the Notices of Requirements before the proposal was 20 

notified. 

 

 I consider that scope is given in a broad sense for these conditions 

because in all five cases submissions have sought some opportunity to 

comment on proposals that affect their properties.  And I have 25 

suggested these five schools because either extensive redevelopment is 

likely, for example St Bede’s, or they have already been issues with 

growth of the schools on constrained sites.  

‘ 

 I am happy to answer any questions.  30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  I think it is just Panel questions 

again.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you Ms Dixon.  First question is about your last 35 

point about the fact that there was no consultation.  Has there been 

some new designations put in the Plan by the City Council itself for 

other purposes? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think the City Council designations in Stage 2 were largely 40 

existing, I am not completely familiar with those, so I don’t think there 

were any notable new ones. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  So there is no new designations imposed as far as you 

know in the District Plan by the City Council? 45 
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MS DIXON:   I could not be a 100 percent certain of that, but I am not aware 

of any.   

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  Could I take you to your paragraph 3.4?  

Now this is where you talk about these schools being perhaps 5 

differentiated by state schools because they are generally small size.  

Do you think that that context in a general sense means that the state 

integrated schools that you are seeking the consultation obligation on 

are materially different for that purpose than state schools?  

 10 

  [1.45 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   That size is the main difference. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Well what is – is that a reason why you think in planning terms 15 

these state integrated schools require the conditions and the 

consultation condition?  I am just trying to piece out why you think that 

is relevant. 

 

MS DIXON:   As a contributor to why I think it could be of benefit to those 20 

schools as I think I have said in my evidence there are a couple of other 

factors sometimes sites are of irregular or narrow shape which will 

mean that buildings will be probably already reasonably close to 

neighbours and it may be that gives us all limited options to add 

buildings or replacement buildings in the same general location so there 25 

is size, shape and then I think as I have just said in my summary of my 

evidence it is partly because of issues having been experienced with 

particular schools in regard to developments and reactions of 

neighbours. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Are you aware of any state schools that might have strange 

shapes or narrow configurations of a similar type, or do you think those 

sort of issues are just specific to the state integrated schools? 

 

MS DIXON:   Unfortunately I did not go through every planning sheet to map 35 

sheet to see objectively what the proportions are of perhaps limited 

frontages or rear sites.  But I think you can always find examples of 

any geographic or characteristic of schools, but as a rule I would think 

that state schools generally have greater frontages and perhaps are less 

irregular in shape.  That is partly because they are larger in the first 40 

place. 

 

 I think also with some of the state integrated schools it appears to me 

and Mr Nolan might be able to comment if you think that is 

appropriate, that the schools in some cases were added after the church 45 

was established and so it was a case of we will put the school behind 
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the church or however it is situated and sometimes I think those 

situations lead to quite confined sites. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So in summary, you think that the differentiation is around size 

and shape between the state schools and the state integrated schools, 5 

that is the reason you think they should be dealt with differently in a 

condition sense? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, because of the fact that can lead to those schools either 

already having buildings quite close to neighbours, or I believe 10 

potentially wanting to have further buildings quite close to neighbours 

and potentially breaching planning rules with the regime in the future. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Can I ask you some questions about section 176A please, do 

you have that handy? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   I do.  Not too far away.  Yes, I have it. 

 

MR DAYSH:  Yes, so I asked Mr Nixon about 176A 3(b) which is the ability 

to or the requirement to how the location of works on a site and then of 20 

a work project or work and I think his answer ultimately was that that 

gives him extra control in a sense over and above what might be a 

permitted activity standard in a zone about exactly where things were 

sited through the Council’s requesting changes they had some concerns 

about that.  Do you agree with Mr Nixon’s view on that? 25 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   In terms of built form standards I do not think being able to 

view the location of a public work makes much difference if it is in the 30 

centre of the site.  Say the Council is looking at a development in, as 

we do, seeing how that stacks up against the permitted activity 

standards, we are really basically concerned in the school zone with the 

boundaries of the sites.  The only exceptions to that are the coverage 

the height but generally speaking the focus is on the boundaries with 35 

the residential neighbours or other zoned neighbours and not on what 

happens in the centre of the site.  That is of no relevance to the Council. 

 

 So for B I do not think that any advantage that Mr Nixon has claimed 

from B actually really materially improves any assessment.  D might be 40 

a bit different in that provision for parking might be useful to know 

where that is located because there is often a lot of comings and goings 

with regard to vehicular access, parking and suchlike.  So if we 

received a plan that had that sort of detail in it that may be of relevance 

in terms of considering effects and potential suggested changes. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   All right so your answer is that perhaps some advantages 

between B and D to this? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, perhaps, particularly in regard to D. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  Looking at the 176A outline process, do 

you think in your opinion that is akin in some ways to a controlled 

activity or a restricted discretionary activity non-notified status in the 

Plan? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   It is, yes it is probably similar but as you are well aware we have 

not had very many controlled activities in the Proposed Replacement 

Plan but it is a similar concept. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And same with restricted discretionary non-notified? 15 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You have those sorts of? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   It is similar to that but obviously in regard to deciding that it 

will not be notified, the Council has to make some assessment of who 

is affected or not and to what extent. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so just thinking about the role of the Council where it 25 

can receive, has to receive the plan within 20 working days, well the 

first question sorry, is, is there any restriction on the Council when it 

receives an outline plan consulting with neighbours and giving their 

views before coming back with comments? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   With the neighbours’ comments? 

 

MR DAYSH:   With its own comments. 

 

MS DIXON:   Its own comments to the - - - 35 

 

MR DAYSH:  Is there any restriction in the Council consulting with 

neighbours and incorporating those sorts of views in the Council’s 

comments? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   I cannot see from the wording of that section that it is precluded 

but I would not think it is common practise because, generally 

speaking, the processing of outline plans is, as people have described 

earlier, a matter between just the Council and the requiring authority.   

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   But in considering the Council’s response on the requiring 

authority, would you as a planner think about issues, planning issues, 

environmental effects issues, as they relate to neighbours and other 

effects? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   I think absolutely the same people process outline plans as 

process restricted discretionary applications for example, so it is highly 

likely that those matters would come to mind. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And if those processing staff had any queries or concerns or 10 

needed to talk to some of the neighbours about some of those issues 

there is nothing precluding Council staff doing that in formulating the 

response? 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not think so but I really have not personally processed very 15 

many outline plans.  I know we have internal guidance, I do not want to 

go into any detail, but generally speaking I think as well as the fact that 

there is time limits on, you know, processing all of our applications 

generally speaking I don’t think that we would automatically attempt to 

identify particular affected parties and consult with them. 20 

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think if there was an obligation in conditions to provide 

a draft outline plan with some time to do that consultation before it was 25 

finally lodged formally would be helpful for consideration of the issues 

when the Council is making comments on the outline plan? 

 

MS DIXON:   You are talking about outline plans generally or outline plans for 

these schools? 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Just we are talking about these schools at the moment so - - - 

 

MS DIXON:  I think it probably wouldn’t take a lot of time.  I guess the 

20 working days as per normal depends on, you know, whether or not 35 

that is met obviously depends on how quickly you get into the 

processing time.  And if you started pretty early on the piece then you 

would still have some days in there to allow for a period such as 

Mr Lanning had mentioned, and which I had independently arrived at, 

of maybe sort of 10 days for comments and, you know, if we don’t get 40 

any comments in that time well, then that is it, that is the degree to 

which we would wait. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But the Council could do that and give a window for people 

saying “Well, I am a neighbour of this property, we have received a 45 

draft outline plan, we are considering it, come back to us in 10 days and 
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give us any thoughts and we will look at those in our response, that is a 

possible approach? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is a possible approach.  I guess in terms of comparing that 

with a normal application process you would normally expect that the 5 

applicant would actually undertake that consultation rather than 

Council having to go out and subsequently obtain comments, so that is 

a bit of a difference there is you were trying to take the approach you 

are suggesting. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   Coming back to that there is no obligation, is there, for an 

applicant to consult, it is good practice as we have heard, but that is not 

a requirement, is it? 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right, it is not mandatory in the full schedule, no. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   So it is no more mandatory for an applicant for resource 

consent to consult under the law than it is for a requiring authority to 

consult, is it? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   No, that is right but I am aware that there have been situations 

where Council would suggest to applicants “It could be a good idea if 

you consult” and that would particularly be the case where the 

applicant has come in for pre-application meeting and that is 

increasingly the practice. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   So a draft, a requirement for a draft with some timeframe 

would allow that dialogue about, you know, who might be affected and 

either the Council or the applicant or the requiring authority could then 

spend that time to look at those issues? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   You are meaning a draft outline plan? 

 

MR DAYSH:   A draft outline plan. 

 35 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I think so. 

 

MR DAYSH:  All right, thank you for that. Can we now turn to your suggested 

consultation conditions and we were talking to Mr Nixon, I am pretty 

sure it was page 3 of the joint memorandum? Where Mr Nixon 40 

certainly had concerns about any mandatory consultation condition.  

After hearing what he said in his answers, do you change your view 

that a mandatory consultation condition is required for these five school 

sites? 

 45 



 Page 99 

  

Ch21: Designations – Stage 3 Commenced 17.12.15 

MS DIXON:  I think it is desirable, I wouldn’t necessarily say absolutely 

required.  But I do think it is a matter of what the wording adopted will 

be and this is just a first stab at it really, I was attempting to reflect the 

wording of the Act in terms of affected so it will be an assessment as to 

which parties should be consulted with.  Again it is a question of who 5 

determines who is affected, that might come down to the pre-

application situation that we just talked about between the Council and 

the requiring authority.   

 

 Yes, I think I didn’t put in a word like “all practicable steps” I have just 10 

“practicable steps” because otherwise obviously it can take quite some 

time to consult with whoever is considered affected.  For example, I 

was involved in a consent a few years ago when I did do sometime in 

resource consent processing, where we had to identify occupiers who - 

were never at home and get their written approvals – and also the 15 

owners were overseas and that always becomes difficult, so I do not 

think that it is – it is got to be flexible and not hinder the normal 

process of processing an Outline Plan. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think the term “practical steps” could be arguable and, 

you know it is quite - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Debated. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Debated and lead to potential - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Judicial review. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:  - - - litigation and claims and those sorts of things, about 

whether, what steps were taken and whether practical and - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Possibly, there may be better ways to word that. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Right. So Mr Nixon thought that that particular condition 

should not be in the conditions, do you still think that condition as it is 

or as amended should stay? 

 

MS DIXON:   Well it needs to be there because it is paired with two, and it 40 

needs to be there in some form, in terms of consultation being desirable 

for those schools and those situations where some developments could 

be immediately adjoining residential or other neighbours. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Did you write down my suggested condition that I gave to Mr 45 

Nixon or - - -  
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MS DIXON:   I tried but I missed some words. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Shall I just read it out to you again? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   Yes, okay, I will just get back to my page and then I can add the 

words if you do not mind waiting a sec – okay. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I suppose the first thing I should say that my proposition would 

be that this would be a standalone single condition without the need for 10 

the first one that is the way I thought about it, but it reads, “The Outline 

Plan of works shall detail any engagement with potentially affected 

parties that has been undertaken - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:  - - - and how any matters raised in these discussions have been 

taken into consideration in finalising the design and layout of the 

proposed works”. 

 20 

MS DIXON:   Mm'hm. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So what is your view on that - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   That wording? 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - type of conditions? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think it is possibly more reflective of the fact that consultation 

is not mandatory for application situations, any engagement that has 30 

been undertaken. 

 

MR DAYSH:  Do you think that reflects the four schedule obligation for 

resource consent applications? 

 35 

MS DIXON:   I cannot remember the precise wording as that, but I think it is 

more reflective of it potentially. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so is there anything else you like to say about that 

suggestion? 40 

 

MS DIXON:   Engagement I guess is not totally definitive either, it might be 

debated. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so you got a concern there, but overall do you have a 45 

view? 
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MS DIXON:   I would be reasonably happy with that, subject to thinking a bit 

more of what you – as the Panel are thinking a bit more about what you 

think the wording should be. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you, I have learned enough thanks, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thanks very much, Mr Neill. 

 

MR NEILL:   Ms Dixon, the joint memorandum, you got a copy there? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR NEILL:   Can you turn to Hillview Christian School? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What page? 

 

MR NEILL:   Second page of Hillview Christian School, it is on page 619. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 20 

 

MR NEILL:   The Ministry of Education have not agreed to the wording that is 

in green 2/92A and 1/92A, can you give any explanation - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I can. The submission itself which was received at 92A St 25 

Martins did not have 1/92 as in flat 1 or 2/92 against it, it just said 

“92A”, but when I looked at the Council’s property information base it 

was clear that there were two different owners, I think these may be the 

two cross-leased flats that were referred to earlier and I think from 

memory 192A is the property owned by the submitter which is the one 30 

in red type except for the one which I added and 292A is a property not 

owned by a submitter which is the other half of that cross-leased 

property and it’s in between the sort of most southerly flat and the other 

properties 86, 88 and 90 St Martin so it’s one in a sort of row of five 

properties that it has missed out effectively from that condition, that is 35 

why I suggested it be added in. 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

MR NEILL:   My understanding is it is actually up the right of way but I would 40 

have thought whether it be up the right way or elsewhere that by 

discussion with MOE that correction could be made by agreement. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I think it could be made by agreement. We would have to 

go back and consult the detailed records. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Neill.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you, Ms Dixon.  I just want to ask you on a similar line 

about these additional properties.  I just want to make sure that I am – 

or the Panel – is familiar with where the green properties that you have 5 

suggested to be added are. I wonder if you could, starting with Hillview 

so those ones and just because – and, sorry, I cannot have the ariel 

photo and the wording up at the same time so I think in answer to 

Mr Neill you have discussed the 92A properties but there are these 

other two properties on Prossers Road and Gamblins Road. 10 

 

 Before you answer my question I want to take you back to what I think 

you said about why you have added these extra properties in and you 

have said that generally on the south side of school boundaries there is 

likely to be development on the schools near those boundaries and 15 

there is prospect of development on that part of the site.  So I just want 

to make sure that those reasons you gave us apply or can you show us 

how those reasons apply to the three additional properties that you have 

suggested be included in this list. 

 20 

MS DIXON:   Okay, the 14 Prossers Road is – I do not know who has got the 

pointer here – that is 14 Prossers Road that pointer is pointing at, it is 

immediately I guess south of the 92A properties and so that house there 

is just south of where the school existing buildings are, I do not think 

that swimming pool is there anymore, I do not remember seeing that.   25 

 

 Why I suggested that one was because it seemed to me on a site visit 

that there were some relatively old classrooms in the area of the I guess 

the north east corner of that school and I think the administration block 

for the junior school as well and that reading the notice of requirement 30 

it does suggest that there could be some rebuilding or redevelopment of 

those blocks of classrooms I think. So with that in mind, I thought 

under a designation situation they might not be built quite in the same 

footprint. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, so it is in the general location of the current 

development.  So what about 19E Gamblins Road which must be on 

the west side? 

 

MS DIXON:   It is on the western side of the senior school.   40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the blue roofs that we are looking at to the south west. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, the pointer is in the wrong place but they are all blue roofs, 

that is a big long complex of buildings.  19E was actually a submitter’s 45 

property, that is why I added that in because that property was 
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particularly concerned about school buildings potentially being built 

near their northern boundary.  I accept Mr Nixon’s or the integrated 

school’s comments that there is not likely that there will be any school 

buildings on that boundary but I still think that given the very large roll 

of the school that it is possible that there could be redevelopment on 5 

that whole area, hopefully not adjoining that 19E because it could 

potentially affect the playing fields, but if there was redevelopment 

along that southern boundary it would particularly affect that property 

because it is very, very close to its boundary with the school. 

 10 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:  I am just concerned to make sure that if any additional 

properties are added to this list that they are not just picked just because 

they are a submitter, there needs to be a rationale and you have given 15 

us a rationale. 

 

MS DIXON:  I think there is a fundamental flaw in picking off submitters in 

the first place, but then again, I guess it is difficult to look in 100 

percent detail about which properties could have developments 20 

affecting them when you do not really know what the developments 

could be.   

 

 I think having the Ministry of Education having started the process of 

listing individual properties based on submitters, I was just adding to 25 

that where I thought the circumstances were merited or were very, very 

similar. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so could we then look please at Middleton Grange, 

I will just see if I can find that in the conditions, you have suggested 30 

some additional properties so I just want you to just take us those 

through those properties in the same way that you have just done for 

Hillview? 

 

MS DIXON:   Okay, hopefully we will get an aerial view. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Acacia Avenue, try that one, Arthur Street, yes, they are both 

there.  Upper Riccarton, Church Corner, 47 Arthur Street.  Mr Nixon’s 

evidence did provide us with aerial photos of some of these properties, 

schools. If you are able to just show us where these additional 40 

properties, even if they are grouped. 

 

MS DIXON:  Would you like me to show you where the Ministry of Education 

suggested properties are located as well? 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   That would be helpful. 
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MS DIXON:   Okay, so could please do down a bit, sorry, the other way, up a 

bit?  Acacia Avenue is across the top of that aerial and so that is a cul-

de-sac at the main entrance to the school kind of in the middle at the 5 

end of Acacia Avenue and 36 to 40 Acacia Avenue are three properties 

to the south side of Acacia Avenue right adjoining the main entrance to 

the school. 

 

 Unfortunately, I do not have a pointer but actually you can see some 10 

numbers on that so 36, 38 and 40 were the three that were suggested by 

the Ministry of Education or I think at least two of them were 

submitters.  I think it is 36 and 40 and at mediation 38 was discussed as 

well.  I hope I have got the right ones there but anyway 36 to 40.   

 15 

 There was one property in the middle and it was exactly the same in 

circumstances so I think they accepted that that could be added in.  60 

Suva Street is actually further north, Suva Street being to the north of 

the school. 

 20 

 It is actually an out of date photo because there is a large new building 

right in the sort of centre of the photo and maybe, I do not know if that 

gym is the same one as I saw, but there is definitely some houses that 

have been removed now and they are used as a car park in front of that 

gym. 25 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

 So, 60 Suva Street is to the left of that, it is, yes that is the one, and that 

was a submitter and that condition was offered by the Ministry of 30 

Education there. 

 

 And the other, 41 and 47B Arthur Street are on the south side of the 

school.  47B is adjoining the new junior school, which is a long skinny 

building at the north of the site.  So that is 47B, that was a submitter 35 

who – I think it is Mr Allpress (ph 0.43) who actually signed, I do not 

know if he signed it but his name was on the mediation agreement – 

and then 41 is slightly to the west of that it is, yes, somewhere in that 

vicinity. 

 40 

 So only Mr Allpress was – okay so that is, the red, yes, he was the 

submitter for 47B. 

 

 41 was a submitter as well and then immediately south of one of the 

school buildings – I am having difficulty seeing the numbers correctly 45 

there but, anyway as they already have a school building on their 
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northern boundary and I guess they are concerned about the possibility 

of that ever being redeveloped at a greater height. 

 

 So those were the red ones, so then 47 is quite close to what we were 

pointing at before 47B, that one, yes, I think it is the blue roofed one.  5 

So I really could not see much difference between that and 

Mr Allpress’s property in terms of its relationship to the school 

buildings, to its in that case north and same with 35 which is really very 

little different to 41.   

 10 

 35, yes, 47 and 47, yes, I am not sure what is happening here but, oh 

yes, I was looking at the properties in the same physical situation.  Now 

33 is actually owned by the school, it is right beside the new 

performance centre, that is shown, and I do not think 31 exists 

anymore, I think that must have been removed because it could be that 15 

– 33 immediately joins a driveway, anyway that is the one that is 

owned by the school and I have not added that in because it is already 

quite badly affected by the performance centre, there is a very large 

recession plane intrusion into that property or effectively into the space 

near that property rather, that affects that property but that is owned by 20 

the school so presumably they gave their written approval to that. 

 

 And the other ones in green, flats at 15, so on the other side of the 

performance centre, to the west of the performance centre, and they are 

just the addresses of those that are immediately south of that complex 25 

of school buildings, I think it is the senior school. 

 

 Those school buildings are two-storeyed and I spoke with some of the 

representatives of the school as part of my work on the school zone 

about October 2014, and at that time they told me that they were 30 

thinking about the possibility of whether or not they could redevelop 

some of the buildings in the senior school.  I am not exactly sure which 

ones they were referring to, but I think it may be some single storey 

buildings just to the north of that but they were talking about 

converting two one-storey buildings to two or two-storey to three and 35 

could that somehow be accommodated.   

 

 So I guess I took from that conversation that there was the potential if 

roll numbers were to increase significantly in the near future, for 

buildings to be redeveloped and to a greater height and I thereby 40 

became a little bit concerned about those properties immediately 

adjoining to the south, the flats.  I think they are Housing New Zealand 

flats. 

 



 Page 106 

  

Ch21: Designations – Stage 3 Commenced 17.12.15 

 And 91B Hansons Lane is just immediately to the west of that big 

block of school buildings.  It is a rear site.  I cannot identify it quite – 

91A is that one there, I think - - - 

 

  [2.20 pm] 5 

 

JUDGE HASSON:   I’ll just complete your answer on that, I think it is a good 

explanation.  

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, it is somewhere around there anyway, so it was 10 

immediately adjoining that corner of the school where I had the 

impression that there was the potential for possible redevelopment 

because those blocks were a bit older and there was issues with the roll 

expanding quite rapidly I think.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well thank you very much.  That is good to 

understand all that.  I am going to ask you he same question about St 

Thomas’s, and I am conscious of time, and I have asked you a question 

that requires you to give us some detail, so I am sorry to - - - 

 20 

MS DIXON:   That is fine.   

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - because this is an area where the Ministry of Education 

has not suggested any conditions on recession planes and setbacks but 

you have.   25 

 

MS DIXON:   I think that is because none of the submitters, or the single 

submitter in respect of St Thomas didn’t come to the mediation.   

 

 But on the site visit I thought that particular submitter, I think is 24 30 

Takaro Ave was particularly badly affected, or would be particularly 

affected if there was further redevelopment of buildings immediately to 

their north, because they are on the south-western boundary of the 

school.  Hopefully we can get some aerial - - - 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So these are adjoining properties on Takaro Avenue? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, so 24 has got a 1.8 metre separation to its boundary with 

the school and that large building just to its immediate due north, I am 

not totally sure if that is actually a hall or a gym, although when I went 40 

there on a site visit it seemed to be a gym that was closed, potentially 

because of earthquake damage.  I don’t know if that is associated with 

the mention in the Notice of Requirement of building a new building 

next to or near to that as a new gym, it might be a replacement 

building. 45 
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 And there seemed to be a strong possibility from looking at the 

configuration of that rear part of the school of any additional building 

being along that boundary with Takaro Ave properties, so those two 

very small properties south of the large gym/hall are fairly poor 

condition.  One is a very rumpty looking shed and another one is a 5 

fairly rumpty looking – It might be a classroom, but both of them 

probably do not have a long term future there.  So I imagine, and so did 

the submitter at 24 Takaro, that that could be a location for future 

building. 

 10 

 Yes the existing gym there is – I think it is two-storey in the centre of it 

at least, so that would actually block their, not so much sunlight, but it 

would be visually dominant if an additional building was added to their 

north-east. 

 15 

 So the other two; 18 and 26 are on each side of that, so 18 is that one 

and that is really added in because of the description in the Notice of 

Requirement of potentially putting a building along that boundary.  

And similarly, the other one, 26 is the other, that one in there, that is a 

bit speculative.  I think that is 26, yes.  I think it is a bit speculative 20 

because it would depend a lot on what might happen with any 

redevelopment whether it affects that property.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Thank you for talking us through that.  I just 

want to ask you similar question, but we do not need to go into so much 25 

detail on the consultation conditions.  Again you have given us a 

rationale for the five schools that you have suggested that are 

consultation conditions, however that might be worded is to be added 

to, and you have talked about that there was either extensive 

development likely or there have been issues with redevelopment or 30 

development occurring on those sites.   

 

 So can you confirm for me that you are satisfied that that rationale 

applies to all five schools, and in particular whether it applies to the 

Adventist School that you have suggested this condition apply to, and 35 

also whether – if you put whose submitted and who has not submitted 

to one side, and should it apply to all those five schools or should there 

be others that are in the same rationale? 

 

  [2.25 pm] 40 

 

MS DIXON:   I guess in terms of the suggested condition for the Christchurch 

Adventist School, I was a bit influenced by the fact that there was a 

description in the notice of requirement of increasing the roll and we 

have heard today that it probably would not have increased much 45 

which probably makes a bit of a difference to whether or not I think 
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that it is something that a school would potentially need to have that 

sort of condition attached to it.  

 

 However, it is still a very small site, and there also seemed to be some 

mention in the Notice of Requirement of potentially buying land 5 

around that school that might also be off the table now, not sure.  So 

that seems to have concerned the submitter at least. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I think we heard that there may be potential for 20 more 

pupils at school, no more, I mean has that changed your mind?  Is that 10 

school in any different a position than any of the other schools, that you 

have not suggested a consultation condition on, in terms of the level of 

growth that could occur? 

 

MS DIXON:   It may not be from what I have heard today, I think I am less 15 

firm about thinking that it is needed there than I was previously. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, and my final question on conditions is you have not 

given us an opinion or your position on the need for any noise 

conditions at Hillview or any other school. 20 

 

MS DIXON:   No, as you have correctly teased out of witnesses if what was 

happening on the school site wasn’t in accordance with the education 

purposes designation then it would need to comply with the underlying 

zone and that does bring in the noise rules in chapter 6 and they are on 25 

the residential boundary so that situation is covered anyway. 

 

 In terms of noise rules generally though I guess a lot of what concerns 

people in my observation is behavioural noise like sort of car doors 

slamming or shouting as people come, singing if people are sort of 30 

been at a concert or something, it is not so much the actual noise that 

occurs in buildings, it is outside noise.  So I think that is quite difficult 

to suggest a rule about it. 

 

 It could be that the Panel might consider that a rule, such as that in the 35 

proposed chapter 6 rules, could apply.  I personally do not really put 

much faith in those sorts of rules because quite often noise is quite 

intermittent and it is pretty hard to measure and the fact those rules use 

a LAeq based on a 15 minute period, by the time the person with the 

measuring machine comes along the noise could well of stopped or be 40 

completely almost gone.  So it is pretty hard to actually say exceeding a 

rule noise-wise and anyway I would think that generally speaking 

schools do not generally have sort of - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, please keep your answer as brief and as 45 

relevant to the question that you are asked, as possible. 
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MS DIXON:   I would expect that most activities in schools do not happen at 

odd hours in the night and are not that noisy. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  Thank you for your answers 5 

to the questions, Ms Dixon. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, I do not have any questions.  Any questions 

arising? 

 10 

MR LANNING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Ms Dixon.  Thank you very much 

for your help on developing the conditions for the joint memorandum, 

it will assist us as well and your effort in giving evidence, thank you.  15 

You are free to go, thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.29 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lanning, I just want to raise something with you and 20 

also Mr Prebble.  Mindful that one of the options that the Panel has 

been exploring was not put to Mr Nixon and I would like the 

opportunity for that to happen so we get Mr Nixon’s opinion on the 

matter of the draft outline plan idea. 

 25 

 So what I was proposing would be for Mr Nixon to be recalled for 

question on that.  Do you have an issue with that, Mr Lanning? 

 

MR LANNING:  No, sir, not at all. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  You are free to go, thank you.  

Mr Nixon we might do that next, I am sorry, Ms Marks, most efficient 

to do it before we hear from you as well, thank you. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   So on that basis, sir, if I can recall Mr Nixon? 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much.  Mr Daysh will put the 

question but we will get Mr Nixon resworn. 

 

40 
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<ROBERT NIXON, reaffirmed [2.30 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [2.30 pm] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Now, Mr Nixon, if I can just have you reconfirm that you 

have provided evidence in respect of this matter and that it is true and 

correct to your knowledge? 5 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And if you can remain for any questions. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Prebble. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Nixon, you were here when I was asking 

Ms Dixon questions about the draft Outline Plan process as another 

condition option. 15 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   What is your opinion of that as an option? 

 20 

MR NIXON:   I think – well, if there is to be such a process, provided it is not 

sort of like a “mandatory arrangement”, I think – well I want to be seen 

to be constructive here – and I think that would probably be – well 

certainly there is some merit, you know, depending on the wording, but 

I think there is some merit with such an option being adopted, as long 25 

as it is not sort of like a “mandatory requirement” which opens up other 

potential cans of worms in terms of challenges and matters of that 

nature. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So when you say “mandatory requirement”, you will be 30 

concern if there was a requirement to provide a draft Outline Plan - - -  

 

MR NIXON:   No, sorry I may have misunderstood you – if there is a 

requirement to provide an Outline Plan or to circulate one, no I would 

not necessarily oppose that. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so that is, his Honour says, to provide a draft to the 

Council with a timeframe for even to perhaps consult or consider the 

issues and liaise with the applicant before the final Outline Plan is 

lodged, is that - - -  40 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, that is – I would imagine that would enable it to help 

inform the Council’s response to the Outline Plan. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, all right, thank you very much. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising from that, Mr Prebble? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Lanning, I should give you the option to - - -  5 

 

MR LANNING:   No, I do not have any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, thank you. Thanks very much, Mr Nixon 

and I appreciate that witnesses have assisted even though the Panel’s a 10 

bit behind and you will appreciate that I am trying to keep matters 

moving according to making sure we conclude in reasonable time, but 

not to shut anyone down. 

 

 Now I think now Ms Marks – well no, before we hear from you, I think 15 

– we have heard from Mr Lanning on legal submissions, that is right, 

we have done that, so it is Ms Marks on your submissions. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.33 pm] 

 20 

MS MARKS:   Sir, my legal submissions were filed in advance and I did not 

intend to take you through them, but I would like - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have read them. 

 25 

MS MARKS:   - - - to speak to the memorandum - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Certainly. 

 

MS MARKS:   - - - filed today. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes now, okay now I just need to - - -  

 

MS MARKS:   Hopefully you will have in front of you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - I will make sure we got both – yes, I see – yes, so this 

came in just over lunch break.  All right, perhaps if you take us 

through, thank you. 

 

MS MARKS:   So this memorandum just essentially sets out the conditions as 40 

we understood they had been agreed, they do seem to be different in the 

memorandum that was filed today, I currently have the very mini 

version of that on my phone, I do not have a hard copy. 

 

 There is no problem with the recession plane condition that is as we 45 

understood it would be. The setback from internal boundary condition 
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is different, however, we had understood that it would be as per the 

notified school zone, so the versions that is in my memorandum is 

different from that in the joint memorandum. 

 

 My clients would still prefer the version in our memorandum, but 5 

happy to abide by the decision of the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS MARKS:   The memorandum also sets out the noise condition that is 10 

sought. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. Just on that you would have heard the Panels 

questions of witnesses, and just putting to you, the starter proposition 

being, that if the thing that is happening on the property and we have 15 

heard from one of your clients made it clear that they were not concern 

about noise from children, and the impression from that was that it was 

noise from extraneous things, but if one considers a designation 

authorises the requiring authority by or on behalf of the requiring 

authority perhaps to do things for the designated purpose and does not 20 

authorise things on the school property just because they happen to be 

there unless they are by or on behalf of the requiring authority. 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 25 

MS MARKS:   Yes, sir, I have discussed this with them and it does give them 

some comfort that for example if the hall was hired out for a concert 

that would have to comply with the noise conditions.  I think what they 

are concerned with is that those education purposes, that is quite a wide 

amount of activities, essentially.  30 

 

 That could include amplified noise for any reason for a school event, 

and that is what they are concerned about but they do take comfort 

from the fact that if it was not the requiring authority creating the noise 

then it would fall under the normal noise conditions. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And you may not be in a position to answer now and 

it might be that we need to set a timetable I think, Mr Prebble, but we 

will come back to this in terms of how we follow up here but – no need 

to stand up, it is fine, thanks – in terms of follow up but one of the 40 

things I am sort of just thinking a little bit about is around section 16 

which is the duty of the occupier of a property to do the best practicable 

option to avoid unreasonable noise and that is a duty as I understand it 

which is applicable in a qualified way in that if there are specific 

conditions in a designation about noise then those conditions might 45 

effectively potentially supersede that duty.   
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 I am not sure about that yet but leaving that to one side, there is 

section 4 of the Act which talks about how the Act applies to the 

Crown and it describes relatively in some detail where the Crown is 

caught and where the Crown is not.   5 

 

 And as I understand it, if we take a Board of Trustees, it is a form of 

Crown entity as I understand, and therefore I think probably subject to 

the section 16 duty in their proprietary role for the operation of the 

school. And so therefore if say the Board of Trustees has some function 10 

early if you like making lots of noise, it possibly in my own thinking at 

the moment, might prompt the ability of noise control to be brought in 

through the normal mechanisms of the Act.  Have you any thoughts on 

that, in other words there is that form of management perhaps. 

 15 

MS MARKS:   We did mention that in the legal submission and that is a fall-

back as we see it, the difference between a Crown entity and the 

Crown, we consider that the section 16 would apply. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, yes, that is how you see it too? 20 

 

MS MARKS: Yes, yes, just really looking for some clarity and some 

confirmation about the levels. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  I mean one of the difficulties I have to flag is we 25 

have to bear in mind the discipline of what we should consider, is it 

evidential or is it not?  You have promoted some conditions here which 

are more stringent for instance than other ones in the Plan and I think in 

your legal submissions made the point that conditions that have 

attached to a particular school somewhere were less stringent but 30 

possibly on the basis of acoustic advice.  And of course we do not have 

any acoustic advice in front of us. 

 

MS MARKS:   No, sir, that is exactly - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have just got submissions to the effect of imposing 

conditions which are more stringent than some others in the Plan. 

 

MS MARKS:   Yes that is - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You see the difficulty that causes us? 

 

MS MARKS:   I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  All right, well that is probably enough said on that.   45 
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MS MARKS:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well thank you very much, Ms Marks, and thank you 

everyone for just working with the process even though it is a bit 

longer than what we had programmed.  I probably should check with 5 

other Panel members if there are any questions, I did not go through 

that.  Any questions, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  So now I just think, Mr Prebble, just about 15 

where we are at, in some ways – you can sit down if you like – it was 

just earlier in the process, just about the questions. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I apologise again, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  No, no, no, no need to, it is all fine, it is properly managed, 

it is fine.  There has been excellent progress in response to a relatively 

late minute from me to at least helping the Panel understand the options 

by way of how to go forward and to narrow the focus of things down to 

some quite confined matters.   25 

 

 But our impression is that on some matters it is a very good work in 

progress but it is somewhat of a work in progress and I wondered 

whether on some of the elements that have come up through today 

whether or not the Minister wanted any formal time to have any further 30 

engagement with the Council and other submitters on any aspects 

before finalising the position on conditions? 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 35 

MR PREBBLE:  I would, sir, respond by saying that I think the Minister would 

always invite that in terms of if it can reach agreement then it should. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  It is not to put pressure on that obviously every party has 

their own case to run but I thought maybe to give all parties the 40 

opportunity perhaps to reflect on the evidence said once the transcript 

is free to consider their position then put their best foot forward on all 

matters before closing or as part of closing. 

 

MR PREBBLE:  Yes. 45 

 



 Page 116 

  

Ch21: Designations – Stage 3 Commenced 17.12.15 

JUDGE HASSAN: What I have done with some other hearings and it is 

obviously at this time of year when people are now heading off on 

holiday and coming back in the New Year and the Panel itself is of 

course not in a rush to do things.  It simply wants to make sure it comes 

to the best overall outcome on all matters to do with the plan.   5 

 

 I wonder whether you could give some thought to a, maybe confer with 

other counsel and give some thought to a suggested timetable for the 

conclusion of matters and I would suggest that timetable beings with 

the Minister putting forward its final position on conditions.   10 

 

 I do not expect that step to be taken until such time as you have had a 

chance to reflect after the holidays on everything, a chance to confer 

with your client and look at the transcript and all that sort of thing. 

 15 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  For the second step in that process to be for Ms Marks and 

Mr Lanning of course to provide their closings and for you to have the 

final say as a requiring authority. 20 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All you would need to do is at some stage if you could 

possibly aim for early in the New Year to lodge a memorandum with a 25 

proposed timetable after you have gone through that process and we 

can make directions from there. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Understood. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Okay, all right, well are there any other matters anyone 35 

wanted to raise otherwise I propose to adjourn the hearing on that 

basis?  Thank you. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 2.42 PM ACCORDINGLY 


